

LUND UNIVERSITY

Protease Activation and Inflammation in Acute Pancreatitis

Regnér, Sara

2008

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Regnér, S. (2008). *Protease Activation and Inflammation in Acute Pancreatitis*. Department of Surgery, Clinical Sciences Lund, Lund University.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Protease Activation and Inflammation in Acute Pancreatitis

Sara Regnér

Akademisk avhandling

Som med vederbörligt tillstånd av Medicinska Fakulteten vid Lunds Universitet för avläggande av doktorsexamen i medicinsk vetenskap kommer att offentligen försvaras i aulan, Clinical Research Centre, ingång 72, Universitetssjukhuset MAS, Malmö, fredagen den 14 mars 2008, kl 9.15.

Fakultetsopponent: Professor Johan Permert, Institutionen för Klinisk Vetenskap, Intervention och Teknik (CLINTEC), Karolinska Institutet, Enheten för kirurgi, Karolinska Universitetssjukhuset, Stockholm



LUND UNIVERSITY Faculty of Medicine

Malmö 2008 Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö University Hospital

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name DOCTORAL DISSERT	ATION	
Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö Department of Surgery Malmö University Hospital	Date of issue March 14, 2008		
Author(s)	Sponsoring organization		
Sara Regnér			
Title and subtitle Protease Activation and Inflammation in Acute Panc	preatitis		
Abstract			
Approximately 10–20% of patients with acute pancr ity and morbidity. Activation of pancreatic proteases circulation are pathophysiological events that are imp no specific treatment for severe AP, and no useful ma admission to the hospital. In this thesis, markers of early pathophysiological ase activation and inflammation. Procarboxypeptidase B (proCAP) is a pancreatic pro- by trypsin thereby forming carboxypeptidase B (aCA B (CAPAP). An ELISA method for measurement of serum aCA shown to inhibit fibrinolysis in vitro. This may contr of severity and pathophysiology was studied in patien of protease activation (aCAP, CAPAP) and inflamma and CRP) were found to be elevated within 24 hours creased after 48 hours, yet inflammation persisted fo leakage (proCAP) decreased with time without differ exhibited a good capacity at predicting severe AP up useful in predicting the degree of severity.	reatitis (AP) develop a severe , the inflammatory response portant in order for the dise trker for predicting the sever events in AP are investigate enzyme which, particularly AP in patients with AP was fibute to formation of necro nts with mild (n =124) and s tition (monocyte chemoattra s in patients with severe AP. r a longer period of time. M rences in patients with mild on hospital admission. CAP	e disease with high mortal- and impaired pancreatic ase to develop. There is ity of the disease upon d, with emphasis on prote- in severe AP, is activated de of procarboxypeptidase developed, and aCAP was sis in AP. The prediction severe (<i>n</i> =16) AP. Markers ctant protein-1 (MCP-1) Protease activation de- larkers of pancreatic and severe AP. MCP-1 AP and aCAP may also be	
Key words: Acute pancreatitis, carboxypeptidase B, aCAP, CAPA	P, proCAP, MCP-1, fibrinol	ysis, prediction of severity	
Classification system and/or index terms (if any):			
Supplementary bibliographical information:		Language English	
ISSN and key title: 1652-8220		ISBN 978-91-85897-73-5	
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 106	Price	
	Security classification		

Distribution by (name and address)

Sara Regnér, Department of , Lund University, Sweden.

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Dara legrés Signature ____ .

Date __<u>January 30, 2008</u>

Alla långa sanningsrötter äro misstänkliga, sanningen får man endast ut i korta bitar. *Edith Södergran*

Sara Regnér 2008 e-mail: sara.regner@med.lu.se

© 2008 Sara Regnér and authors of included articles Layout & typography: Maria Näslund/Formfaktorn Printed by Grahns Tryckeri, Lund 2008

> ISBN 978-91-85897-73-5 ISSN 1652-8220

Contents

List of papers	11
Abbreviations	
Introduction	
Background	
Exocrine pancreas	
Protease activation in acute pancreatitis	
Inflammatory changes in acute pancreatitis	
Ischemia, microcirculation and microthrombosis	
Fibrinolysis	
Necrosis formation	
Prediction of severity	
Aims	
Material, methods and results	
Materials and methods, Paper I	
Purification of aCAP	
Antibodies	
ELISA procedures	
Analysis of proCAP and CAPAP	

C	Gel filtration	27
C	Characterization of pure proCAP and aCAP	27
I	nteractions between aCAP and serum proteins <i>in vitro</i>	27
Р	Patients and blood samples	27
S	tatistical analysis	28
Result	ts. Paper I	
a	CAP assay and cross reaction with proCAP	28
Ν	Normal serum	28
Р	Patient data	28
iı	r-aCAP in patient serum	29
C	Characterization of pure proCAP and aCAP by gel filtration	29
I	r-aCAP in relation to s-proCAP, u-CAPAP and maximum CRP levels	29
F	Recovery of ir-aCAP after gel filtration	29
I	nteraction between aCAP and serum proteins	30
Mater	rials and methods, Paper II and Paper III	30
Р	Patients	30
S	amples and assays	30
S	tatistical methods	3′
Result	ts, Paper II and III	31
Р	Patient characteristics	31
Ν	Narkers	3′
	Differences between mild and severe cases, Paper II	3'
	Differences between mild and severe cases, Paper III	34
	Time course analysis	3!
Mater	rials and methods Paper IV	2i
a	CAP	3
F	vibrinolysis model: D-dimer measurements	
F	ibrinolysis and aCAP: D-dimer measurements	38
A	Agarose fibrinogen gels	38
S	statistical methods	38
Result	ts. Paper IV	20
F	ibrinolysis model: D-dimer measurements	30
F	brinolysis and aCAP: D-dimer measurements	
A	Agarose fibrinogen gels	4(
General	discussion	41

Conclusions	45
Implications for future studies and treatment of acute pancreatitis	45
Acknowledgements	46
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning på svenska	47
References	50
Papers	
Paper I	61
Paper II	71
Paper III	85
Paper IV	99

List of papers

This thesis is based on the following published papers, which will be referred to in the text by their Roman numerals. The papers are appended at the end of the thesis.

- I. Borgström A, Regnér S Active Carboxypeptidase B Is Present in Free Form in Serum from Patients with Acute Pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2005;5:530–536. *
- II. Regnér S, Appelros S, Hjalmarsson C, Manjer J, Sadic J and Borgström A Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1, active carboxypeptidase B and CAPAP at hospital admission are predictive markers for severe acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2008;00:00–00, in press. *
- III. Regnér S, Manjer J, Appelros S, Hjalmarsson C, Sadic J and Borgström A[†]. Protease activation, pancreatic leakage and inflammation in acute pancreatitis: Differences between mild and severe cases and changes over the first three days Submitted.
- IV. Regnér S, Borgström A[†], Malm J, Manjer J and Appelros S. Active pancreatic carboxypeptidase B (aCAP) inhibits fibrinolysis *in vitro*: A potential mechanism behind necrosis formation in acute pancreatitis. Manuscript

[†]The authors wish to acknowledge with appreciation the contribution made to this papers by Professor Anders Borgström, who passed away on the 9th of October 2007.

* Reprinted from Pancreatology with permission from S.Karger AG, Basel.

Abbreviations

α-1PI	α -1 protease inhibitor	LR	likelihoodratio
α_2 -M	α_2 makroglobulin	MCP-1	monocyte chemoattractant
AP	acute pancreatitis		protein 1
APACHE	acute physiologic and chronic	OR	odds ratio
	health evaluation	PAF	platelet activationg factor
aCAP	active carboxypeptidase B	PECAM	platelet endothelial cell
CAPAP	procarboxypeptidase B		adhesion molecule
	activation peptide	PMN	polymorphonuclear
CCK	cholecystokinin	ProCAP	procarboxypeptidase B
CI	confidence interval	P-selectin	platelet selectin
CRP	c-reactive protein	PSTI	pancreatic secretory trypsin inhibitor
CT	computerized tomography	PTC	procalcitonin
C-terminal	carboxyl terminal		rough and an lasmatic rati
CV	coefficient of variation	KLK	culum
Da	Dalton	ROC	reciever operating charac-
ELISA	enzyme-linked immuno-	110 0	teristics
	sorbent assay	ROS	reactive oxygen species
E-selectin	endothelial selectin	SIRS	systemic inflammatory
ICAM	intercellular adhesion		response syndrome
	molecule	SPINK1	serine protease inhibitor Kazal
ICU	intensive care unit		type 1
IL	interleukin	TAP	trypsinogen activation
IL 1-ra	interleukin 1 receptor		peptide
	antagonist	TNF	tumour necrosis factor
Ir	immunoreactive	tPA	tissue plasminogen activator

10

Introduction

In approximately 80-90% of patients with acute pancreatitis (AP), the course is mild and the disease self limiting [1–3]. If systemic or local complications occur, the disease is classified as severe [4]. Mortality is high in this group, 17-43% and morbidity in terms of endocrine and/or exocrine pancreatic dysfunction or chronic pain is common [2,3,5,6].

The incidence of AP is reported to 5-73 /100 000 person-years. Higher incidence figures often represent studies where recurrent as well as first time attacks of AP are included. Incidence also varies with the frequency of gallstone disease in the population and differences in alcohol consumption patterns, since these are the most important ethiologic factors for AP [1-3,7-9].

AP is characterized by acute onset of severe abdominal pain and elevated levels of pancreatic enzymes in serum or urine. CT scan is used for diagnosis especially when other acute abdominal disorders are suspected or when levels of pancreatic enzymes are not elevated [10–13].

Pancreatic necrosis is a local complication frequently seen in severe AP. Infection of necrosis may lead to sepsis and death. Systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) is seen in patients with severe AP with or without pancreatic necrosis. The initial pancreatic inflammation has then become systemic and the pathophysiology in this phase of the disease resembles conditions such as sepsis, trauma and burns. Following SIRS, single or multiple organ dysfunctions may develop [14,15].

There is no specific therapy for patients with severe AP, but early monitoring, rehydration and supportive therapy, often in an intensive care unit (ICU) may lead to better prognosis [16]. In order to treat these patients in an optimal way, it is necessary to identify

patients who will develop a severe disease early in the course. Clinical assessment at admission to hospital has a sensitivity for prediction of severe AP of approximately 40% [17,18]. Elevated levels of CRP correlates with severity, but since CRP reaches maximum levels 48-72 hours after onset of symptoms, it is not useful for prediction [19,20]. The lack of an early marker of severity is not only a problem in the clinical situation, but also for selecting patients to studies of treatment of severe AP. Since patients with mild AP recover completely without specific treatment, interpretations of results are difficult if these are included in studies. There are also ethical reasons not to test new treatments and risking unknown side effects for these patients, who would recover anyways.

The pathogenesis of AP is only partially known. Early in the course trypsinogen is prematurely activated to trypsin, which, in turn, activates other pancreatic proenzymes [21,22]. The exact impact of these proteases is not known, but autodigestion leading to pancreatic necrosis was proposed already more than 100 years ago [23]. The inflammatory reaction in AP is of importance later in the course of systemic disease as well as early in the pancreatic inflammatory phase [24-26]. Microcirculatory changes and ischemia are other factors contributing in the development of AP and the course of the disease [27-31]. Understanding of the pathophysiology, and especially the differences between mild and severe AP, is of importance when searching for treatments of severe AP. Knowledge about timing of the pathophysiological events is also of utmost importance for understanding when a treatment could be expected to be efficient.

Procarboxypeptidase B (proCAP) is a pancreatic proenzyme activated by trypsin early in the course of AP, leading to formation of active carboxypeptidase B (aCAP) and the activation peptide of procarboxypeptidase B (CAPAP) [32]. CAPAP has earlier shown promising results as an early marker for prediction of severe AP, but its turnover in serum seems to be fast, which is probably due to its small molecular weight (10 kDa) [33,34]. The active enzyme, aCAP, is formed in equimolar amounts as CAPAP and should theoretically, from the perspective being larger (35 kDa), have a longer half life in serum. Hence, there is a theoretical background for aCAP to be an even better early marker of severe AP than CAPAP. As an active enzyme, aCAP could have biological effects of importance for the course of disease in AP. Other similar biological enzymes have been reported to interact with the fibrinolytic system and thereby inhibit fibrinolysis [35]. This may be important as inhibition of fibrinolysis in pancreas could theoretically contribute to pancreatic necrosis formed in severe AP.

This thesis examines early pathophysiological mechanisms in AP, especially focusing on protease activation and inflammation in the initiation and early phases of the disease. Markers for prediction of severity of AP, as well as the timecourses for markers of different pathophysiological events are studied. A method for measurement of aCAP is developed and its biological effect considering inhibition of fibrinolysis is investigated.

Background

Exocrine pancreas

Acinar cells in the exocrine pancreas are responsible for production of proteolytic, amylolytic and lipolytic enzymes needed for digestion of food. Bicarbonate is secreted from ductular cells, together with the enzymes. Secretion is regulated by neural as well as hormonal stimulation, mediated mainly by secretin for bicarbonate secretion and cholecystokinin (CCK) for enzyme release [36,37].

The acinar cell is usually protected from

enzymatic damage by several mechanisms. Proteolytic enzymes, potentially capable of digesting cell membranes, are synthesized as proenzymes, (zymogens) without activity. Enzymes are kept inside membrane bound compartments; from their production site on the ribosomes attached to the rough endoplasmatic reticulum they migrate to the Golgi complex where digestive enzymes are packed in condensing vacuoles, maturing into zymogen granules before exocytosis from the apical side of the cell into the pancreatic duct, Figure 1. Trypsin inhibitors are synthesized and released together with the zymogens. Exocytosis is well regulated and stimulated by a rise in intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration [36,37], which is otherwise kept low, Figure 1. The low intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration favours degradation of trypsin rather than activation (se below). Another protective mechanism is the acidic pH inside the zymogen granulaes which precludes trypsin activity [38].

When pancreatic juice enters duodenum, trypsinogen is activated to trypsin by the brush border enzyme enterokinase in a reaction where the trypsinogen activation peptide (TAP) is cleaved off. Trypsin is responsible for activation of other proenzymes as well as of trypsinogen, yielding active proteases for digestion of food and corresponding activation peptides, such as CAPAP. Protease inhibitors located in the intestinal mucosa protects the mucosa from harmful effects of the proteases [36,37].

Protease activation in acute pancreatitis

In AP there is a premature activation of proteases and leakage of trypsinogen, other proenzymes, and activation peptides into the interstitium and blood are seen [19,34,39– 46]. Elevated levels of trypsinogen and pro-CAP are seen in both mild and severe disease whereas levels of the activation peptides TAP and CAPAP as well as trypsin in complex with α -1 protease inhibitor (α -1PI) are higher in severe AP [19,34,39–46]. The activation of trypsinogen to trypsin is an early event that might be the initiating step leading to AP. Theoretically this activation might occur inside acinar pancreatic cells, in the interstitium or in the pancreatic duct.

The possibility of intracellular activation is well documented in several studies on isolated acini cells and in experimental AP. According to the "co-localisation theory" trypsinogen activation occur inside acinar cells when zymogen granules confluences with other vacuoles, lysosomes, in the vacuolisation process. These changes are seen when apical exocytosis from acinar cells is blocked, Figure 1. Lysosomes contain hydrolases as Cathepsin B, which is able to activate trypsinogen and might play a role in the early activation process [22,47–53]. However, a colocalization of cathepsins with digestive enzymes has been observed in control animals under physiological conditions and even in healthy human pancreas trypsinogen and Cathepsin B were present in the same subcellular compartement [54]. Following this, there might be other factors or conditions affecting when and how intracellular trypsinogen activation occurs.

Interstitial activation of trypsinogen is less investigated, but could be of importance for development of severe AP. Interstitial activation of trypsinogen with enerokinase in experimental AP has changed the course of disease from mild to severe [55–57]. There is no strong evidence for intraductal activation of trypsinogen leading to AP [56].

Trypsinogen can be activated by enterokinase, trypsin and Cathepsin B [49,58]. Autoactivation of trypsinogen is shown in vitro, but is thought to be of less importance in vivo since the presence of Serine Protease Inhibitor Kazal type 1 (SPINK1), inhibits the process which is also regulated by pH (optimum around pH 5) and is increased in the presence of calcium [49,59]. Trypsin autolysis is



Figure 1. Activation of pancreatic proenzymes in acute pancreatitis.

Trypsin is inhibited by several protease inhibitors. Resulting free trypsin activates important pancreatic proenzymes, yielding corresponding active enzymes and activation peptides.

Protease activation and inflammation in acute pancreatitis

Figure 2. Cellular events in a normal acinicell (left) and in AP according to the "co-localisation theory" (right). Protective mechanisms to inhibit premature protease activation are described to the left and how they are disturbed in AP to the right.



RER= Rough endoplasmatic reticulum, N= Nucleus, G= Golgi complex, L= Lysosomes, CV= Condensing vacuoles, ZG= Zymogen granulae, V= vacuole.

thought to be an important mechanism in the regulation of trypsin activity. This process is slowed down in the presence of calcium, allowing trypsin activity to persist much longer [49,60,61].

SPINK 1, also referred to as pancreatic secretory trypsin inhibitor (PSTI) is normally present in the pancreatic juice and is sufficient to inhibit trypsin activity if small amounts of trypsinogen is activated [49,62,63]. Another potent trypsin inhibitor is α_2 macroglobulin (α_2 -M) which is present in blood, but due to its large size (725 kDa), it is not able to access the extra vascular space. A smaller (55 kDa) protein, α -1PI, also called α -1-antitrypsin, is present in plasma but has ability to diffuse into tissues. Half-life of the trypsin- α -1PI complex in plasma is about 3.5 hours in vivo but trypsin is able to dissociate and reequilibrate with α_2 -macroglobulin. Trypsin- α_2 -M complexes are then cleared from the bloodstream with a half-life of about 10 minutes [63].

If the amount of active trypsin exceeds the capacity of trypsin inhibitors, trypsin activates the other pancreatic proenzymes in pancreas, Figure 2. Trypsin is also capable of activating other cascade systems, for example the kallikrein-kinin system, leading to release of bradykinin and kallidin, and the complement system. In the coagulative-fibrinolytic systems trypsin activates both prothrombotic and fibrinolytic proteins [62]. The balance between trypsin and trypsin inhibitors may be affected by hypovolemia and microvascular changes which may cause ischemia and thus a diminishing supply of trypsin inhibitors.

Trypsinogen and trypsin

There are two major forms of trypsinogen in pancreas, trypsinogen 1 (cathodal trypsinogen) and trypsinogen 2 (anodal trypsinogen). They are both around 25 kDa and the ratio between trypsinogen 1 and trypsinogen 2 is normally 0.8:1 in serum, but in AP levels of trypsinogen 2 increases more compared to trypsinogen 1, yelding a ratio of 1.3:1–2:1 [64–66]. Elevated levels of both trypsinogens, but to a higher extent trypsinogen 2, can discriminate patients with AP from other abdominal diseases. Elevated levels of trypsinogen 2 are also associated with severe AP [46].

Trypsin is a 24 kDa serine protease, able to cleave other proteins by binding to lysine and arginine residues inside the protein and hydrolyse their peptide bonds. Because of the potentially harmful effect of trypsin, protease inhibitors are present in pancreas and in blood. Since direct trypsin activity is difficult to measure, indirect signs of trypsinogen activation such as the complex of trypsin 2 coupled to α -1PI or TAP have been used in studies and high levels correlate with severity of AP [34,46].

The importance of trypsin in development of AP is further sustained by the finding of mutations in the trypsinogen gene, leading to increased risk of recurrent attacks of AP, often at young ages, for the patients [67,68]. A mutation in the gene for SPINK1 is more common in patients with AP compared to the population. Although the clinical implications for patients with this mutation are unclear, they are at higher risk of AP, probably because of a defect trypsin inhibitory effect of SPINK1 [68,69].

Carboxypeptidase B

Carboxypeptidase B is one of the major digestive enzymes [70]. It is synthesised as an inactive precursor of 45 kDa, procarboxypeptidase B (proCAP) in pancreatic acinar cells. Low levels of proCAP is found in human plasma from healthy individuals, but in patients with AP, proCAP leaks into the circulatory system and elevated levels discriminates these patients from patients with other abdominal disorders. When activated by trypsin, the active enzyme and activation peptide are formed in equimolar amounts [19,34].

Active carboxypeptidase B (aCAP) is a 35 kDa metalloprotease which has a proteolytic mechanism that differs from most other pancreatic proteases. It is an exoprotease, catalyzing the release of basic, carboxyl terminally (c-terminal) located aminoacids such as arginine, lysine, cysteine and ornithine [71]. This kind of proteolytic activity has been shown to affect the fibrinolytic, complement and bradykinin systems. No biological inhibitor to aCAP has been identified [62].

The activation peptide of procarboxypeptidase B (CAPAP), is the largest of the pancreatic activation peptides, 10 kDa, and can be measured in serum and urine from patients with AP. High levels of CAPAP in serum and urine, predicts development of severe AP if obtained within 72 hours from onset of symptoms [19,32,34,72].

Inflammatory changes in acute pancreatitis

Localized inflammation is the body's initial physiological protective response to cell injury. Generally the process includes changes in the microvascular system such as vasodilatation, plasma leakage and leukocyte recruitment. Endothelial cells outlining the vessels are crucial in this process as they initiate the process leading to rolling, adherence and transendothelial migration of leukocytes into the tissue [73–75].

Leukocytes and adhesion molecules

Leukocytes include polymorphonuclear (PMN) granulocytes, monocytes/macrophages and lymphocytes. Activation of these cells leads to an increased tissue infiltration and an enhanced production of cytokines and other inflammatory mediators. Monocytes are produced in the bone marrow and circulate in the blood [73]. Upon migration into different tissues they undergo transformation into tissue macrophages. Activated mononuclear cells secrete proinflammatory chemokines such as tumour necrosis factor- α $(TNF-\alpha)$, Interleukin (IL) -1, IL-6 and IL-8. Monocyte activation is associated with severe AP and is seen early in the course of disease [76,77].

PMN granulocytes invade the pancreas early in the course of experimental pancreatitis, recruited by cytokines as well as factors of the complement system. They can synthesize and release both proinflammatory and antiinflammatory cytokines. Release of proteolytic enzymes and formation of free radicals from activated granulocytes may contribute to aggravation of local destruction and systemic complications in AP [38,77–79].

The most abundant proteolytic enzyme in granulocytes is leukocyte elastase (PMN elastase), known for its ability to degrade different kind of tissues. It is released from PMN granulocytes early, especially in severe AP and is a marker of leukocyte activation [80]. Levels of leukocyte elastase is significantly more elevated in severe AP compared to mild disease during the first days from onset of symptoms [81–83].

Invasion of leukocytes into inflamed tissue includes rolling along the endothelium, adherence to the endothelium and transendothelial migration into the tissue [25,75]. Activation of endothelial cells leads to expression of the adhesion molecules platelet (P)- and endothelial (E)-selectins on the cell surface, thereby initiating rolling of leukocytes. Integrins are transmembrane glycoproteins expressed on neutrophiles regulating the adhesion of leukocytes to the endothelium. Upon activation they develop a high affinity for intercellular adhesion molecules (ICAMs) located on endothelial cells, and thereby the firm adhesion of leucocytes to the endothelium is mediated [25,75]. The transendothelial passage of leukocytes through the endothelium is believed to occur along the tight junctions between endothelial cells probably mediated by the platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 (PECAM-1), but an intercellular passage has also been shown [74,84]. Recruitment of leukocytes into pancreatic tissue is an important step in AP. The degree of activation of leukocytes correlates to the development of severe disease, and interference with leukocyte migration have reduced the severity of pancreatic and pulmonary damage in experimental AP [24,25].

The potent vasodilator platelet activating factor (PAF), is a phospholipid and a proinflammatory mediator which can cause increased capillary permeability and activation of leukocytes, mast cells and platelets [85]. It is released from cell membranes of endothelial cells, activated leukocytes and platelets. The production is closely tied to that of IL-1 and TNF-α so that inhibition of PAF attenuates IL-1 and TNF- α production and inhibition of either of these cytokines attenuates PAF production [76]. Several studies have shown decreased tissue damage and reduction of bacterial translocation in experimental AP when a PAF antagonist (lexipafant) is administered. Initial clinical trials with lexipafant treatment in severe AP have reported a significant reduction in the incidence of organ failure and also suppression of the inflammatory response [86,87]. However, the largest clinical double-blind, randomized, placebo controlled study failed to demonstrate a reduction in the frequency of new organ failure or mortality [88,89].

Cytokines and chemokines

Cytokines are low molecular weight proteins (usually 16–25 kDa) secreted by many different cell types in response to an injury or infection for recruitment of leukocytes. Proinflammatory cytokines also induces expression of selectins, increases capillary permeability, promotes extravasation of leukocytes and induce liver acute phase protein production [76,77].

IL-1 and TNF- α are early proinflammatory cytokines, and primary inducers of IL-6 and IL-8. High levels have been found in pancreas in experimental AP and also their genes are expressed in pancreas after induction of AP [90]. Later, production in spleen, lung and liver is also seen [76]. Because of their short half-life in circulation and intermittent release, they are not always detectable in serum from patients with AP [16]. Increasing levels of IL-1 and TNF-α receptors correlates with severe AP in some reports [91,92]. When investigating differences in cytokine polymorphism, no differences in TNF-α gene loci where seen between patients with AP and controls or between patients mild or severe AP [93].

IL-6 is a proinflammatory cytokine, (activator of lymphocytes) and the principle mediator of the acute phase response, thus regulating the production of CRP in the liver. IL-6 peaks after 24–48 hours and levels are more elevated in severe AP than in mild [76,81,92,94].

IL-10 is an anti-inflammatory cytokine, down regulating a number of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1, TNF- α , IL-6 and IL-8 [95]. Pretreatment or treatment with IL-10 has reduced severity and delayed onset of pancreatic necrosis in experimental AP [16,77,95]. High levels of IL-10 are seen in patients with severe AP already within 24 hours from onset of symptoms, and levels stay elevated for the first week [16,81,92]. No difference in polymorphism frequencies of IL-10 gene loci has been found between patients with AP and controls or between patients with mild and severe AP [93].

IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra) is an anti-inflammatory cytokine, inhibiting the effect of IL-1. It is significantly more elevated in severe than in mild AP during the first 48 hours from onset of symptoms [92]. In experimental AP, administration of IL-1ra before or after the induction of AP has resulted in decreased pancreatic damage and decreased mortality [16,96].

Chemokines

Chemokines (short for chemotactic cytokines) are small signalling molecules, roughly 70–130 amino acids with four conserved cysteines. Depending on their structural configuration they are classified as CXC respective CC chemokines. Their systemical names also include an L for ligand and the number of their respective receptor, but still they are mostly designated by their traditional names. Inflammatory chemokines are produced by many different tissue cells and by immigrating leukocytes in response to bacterial toxins and inflammatory cytokines. Their main function is to recruit leukocytes in infection and inflammation [77,97].

IL-8 (CXCL8) is a chemotactic agent for neutrophils [76,77] in which it causes degranulation and release of enzymes (especially leukocyte elastase) and toxic oxygen radicals. When overproduced this leads to tissue destruction. A genetical polymorphism increasing IL-8 production is more common in patients developing severe AP compared to controls (OR=2.07). No such differences where seen between controls and patients with mild AP [98]. Circulating levels of IL-8 are measurable in patients with AP within 24–48 hours from onset of symptoms and higher levels correlates to severe disease [76,81].

Monocyte chemotactic protein 1 (MCP-1)

also named CCL2, is a potent chemoattractant and activator of monocytes/macrophages and, to some extent, T cells, eosinophils and basophils. It is involved in acute as well as chronic inflammation and also in allergic reactions [97]. In experimental tissue transplantation MCP-1 is expressed in the immediate inflammatory response [97].

MCP-1 is induced in cerulein stimulated acinar cells, and it might be responsible for early attraction of monocytes/macrophages to the pancreas in AP [99]. In mice, MCP-1 inhibitors have been shown to inhibit severe experimental AP [100]. In patients with severe AP treated at the ICU, elevated MCP-1 levels has been reported to precede complications [101]. MCP-1 gene expression in humans is affected by an A/G polymorphism, with the G allele increasing MCP-1 production. Presence of the G allele (present in about 40% of controls) was associated with an odds ratio (OR) of 8.6 for developing severe disease (defined according to the Atlanta classification) in an earlier study, further indicating that MCP-1 is of importance for development of severe AP [102].

Ischemia, microcirculation and microthrombosis

Pancreatic blood flow is physiologically regulated by exocrine factors as somatostatin, secretin and cholecystokinin. A pancreatic lobule is supplied by a single vessel, often an end artery [103], which in most cases supplies islets first and then acini in a "insuloacinar" portal system [104]. This anatomy predisposes for the pancreatic susceptibility to ischemia seen in for example AP induced by low pancreatic blood perfusion due to systemic hypovolemia [105]. Also in an experimental setting prolonged ischemia induces AP, which has been verified histologically [106]. Ischemia is known to induce oxidative stress and especially in ischemiareperfusion injury reactive oxygen species (ROS) seems to be involved [108]. If mediated by ROS or other factors, ischemia still seems to play a role in the development of severe AP and formation of pancreatic necrosis [107,108].

Induction of microthrombi by injection of microspheres as well as venous stasis leads to severe experimental AP [30,109], and ischemia and hypoperfusion converts mild experimental AP to severe [27,31]. The multiple intravascular thrombi seen in pathological tissue after severe necrotic pancreatitis [30,110–112] also supports this theory.

In vivo microscopy of rats have shown decreased tissue perfusion in the pancreatic head within an hour from onset of severe experimental AP, whereas it is unchanged or increased in mild disease [29,103,104,113]. These changes occur earlier than the central hemodynamic changes [29,108] and are probably effects of microvascular events. Impairment of the pancreatic microcirculation (seen as arterial constriction, lowered red blood cell velocity and microcirculatory stasis) occur with a marked interlobular variation in areas where necrosis later appears [29,103,104,107,113]. One possible explanation is that the microvascular changes predispose formation of microthrombi, which further increases local ischemia and leads to the formation of necrosis.

Inflammation may be a parallel or subsequent process to microvascular changes. Plaques of leukocytes in the vessels, leukocyte adherence to endothelium and leukocyte invasion are seen later than the above mentioned microvascular changes in experimental pancreatitis [114,115]. Increased permeability in pancreatic vessels is seen early, but without differences between mild and severe AP.

Histological findings in pancreas from animals with severe experimental AP as well as patients operated for severe necrotising AP has been compared to normal pancreatic tissue confirming microvascular changes in inflamed pancreas [111,115–117].

Oxygen derived free radicals

A free radical is an unstable and reactive metabolite because it contains an odd number of electrons in its outer orbital. Molecular oxygen is the major biological source of free radicals [118,119]. Under normal conditions most molecular oxygen undergoes controlled reduction in the mitochondria, forming water. A small proportion is only partially reduced, forming the cytotoxic free radicals, as a group called ROS. Normally, these are detoxified by endogenously produced intracellular scavengers [118,119].

Production of ROS increases when a period of intracellular anaerobic respiration is followed by re-oxygenation. If the rate of ROS production exceeds the capacity of the endogenous antioxidant mechanisms, oxidative stress develops [120]. Free radicals may then cause a chain reaction of lipid peroxidation leading to additional reactive intermediates. These are able of causing tissue injury such as damage of cell membranes and disruption of lysosomes. Antioxidants in plasma may be a protective factor for oxidative damage [121].

Different markers of oxidative stress have been measured in clinical and experimental AP with results indicating this process to be involved in the pathophysiology of the disease [121–124]. Profylactic treatment with antioxidant enzymes or allopurinol has reduced pancreatic damage in experimental AP, but treatment after onset of AP was less successful [118,119]. Recently a clinical randomized study could not show effect in incidence or severity of organ dysfunction for patients with severe AP treated with antioxidants [125].

Fibrinolysis

Thrombin makes fibrinogen polymerize resulting in bundles of fibrin and entrapped cells forming a blood clot. The fibrinolytic

cascade starts with release of the tissue-type plasminogen activator (tPA) from endothelial cells initiating a limited conversion of plasminogen to plasmin [126–128]. In a first phase, a small amount of plasmin digests fibrin creating fibrin with C-terminal lysine residues. These residues generate a positive feedback in plasminogen activation and fibrinolysis in many ways. First, they are binding sites for both plasminogen and tPA resulting in acceleration of conversion of plasminogen to plasmin. Moreover, plasminogen bound to c-terminal lysine residues has an altered configuration that enhances its properties as a substrate for plasmin formation. In addition, the inhibition capacity of α_2 -antiplasmin on plasmin is suppressed by the binding to partly destructed fibrin. The fibrinolytic effects of plasmin terminates in digestion of fibrin to soluble fibrin degeneration products (FDPs) [126–129] and D-dimer is one product in this family.

Thrombin activatable fibrinolysis inhibitor (TAFI)

TAFI is a plasma carboxypeptidase B which acts by the same type of proteolytic mechanism as aCAP, i.e. by cleaving c-terminal located lysine and arginine residues. It circulates in plasma in concentrations of 75 nM. Activation is mediated by thrombin and is enhanced by thrombomodulin. Activation by trypsin has also been shown [35,126,130].

The active form, TAFIa, is unstable in plasma, with an expected half life of ten minutes at body temperature [126]. In concentrations of 1.0–5.0 nM, TAFIa suppresses fibrinolysis by removal of the c- terminal lysine residues of partly destructed fibrin and thereby decreases the activation of plasminogen to plasmin. In higher concentrations (25–50 nM), a direct inhibitory effect on plasmin is seen [35]. It has been suggested that the same type of inhibition could be mediated by aCAP [126].

Fibrinolysis in acute pancreatitis

Systemic signs of consumptive coagulopathy and increased fibrinolysis are seen in the course of disease in severe AP [131,132]. Furthermore, in one study, elevated serum levels of D-dimers preceded signs of disseminated intravasal coagulation [133], indicating an earlier coagulative-fibrinolytic process going on. High levels of D-dimers at admission have also been reported to predict development of severe AP [134].

Necrosis formation

The pathogenetic mechanisms leading to formation of pancreatic necrosis are not fully understood. Histological studies show a faster destruction of acinar cells compared to the interlobar and/or extrapancreatic fat cell necrosis which can be seen for several weeks [36,37]. Proteolytic and lipolytic enzymes might contribute to this rapid degradation of the acinar cells [49,51]. In pancreas from patients undergoing surgery within two days after onset of fulminant AP, viable pancreatic tissue were seen even when contrast enhanced CT had shown low enhancement and no perfusion [135]. Studies in experimental AP also reports impaired circulation before development of necrosis, indicating that impaired perfusion contributes to formation of pancreatic tissue necrosis [29,103,104,113]. The necrotic destruction of the cell generates a profound inflammatory reaction. Apoptosis (regulated cell death), on the other hand, is a controlled process ending in digestion of the apoptotic bodies by macrophages without inflammatory activation. In mild AP there is a high apoptotic activity which is replaced by a high necrotic activity in severe AP. This may be a result of the trauma to the acinar cell, but may also be a result of stimuli from factors changing apoptosis to necrosis such as reactive oxygen species [136].

Prediction of severity

The ability to differentiate severe from mild AP in the clinical situation has been evaluated in several trials, resulting in a sensitivity of approximately 40% for an experienced clinician to predict severity on admission. This means that the majority of patients who develops severe AP are initially misidentified as mild [17,18]. Since strict observation and prompt treatment of systemic complications is assumed to lead to better outcome concerning mortality and morbidity for patients with severe disease, much effort has been put into the issue of finding a good marker or a scoring system for prediction of severe AP at admission to the hospital [14,16].

For treatment studies and research concerning pathophysiology of AP, early prediction of severity is crucial for identification and inclusion of only severe cases in the study. If patients with mild as well as severe AP are included in treatment studies, results will be delicate to interpret and the studies will need to be very large, because of the high percentage of patients with mild disease that will not benefit from the treatment but diluting the results. There are also ethical aspects of testing new treatments in a group of patients if a high percentage will not benefit, but may risk side effects and complications from the treatment.

Today most clinical studies use the Atlanta Classification for retrospective evaluation of mild and severe AP [4]. According to this consensus, severe AP is classified as AP with systemic or local complications. Systemic complications include circulatory, respiratory and kidney dysfunction as well as signs of coagulopathy or other dysfunctions after the initial dehydration is treated. Local complications include pancreatic necrosis more than 30%, pancreatic abscesses and pseudocysts [4].

Clinicobiochemical scoring systems

Clinicobiochemical scoring systems are not usually used at admission in clinical practice as they are complex and time consuming. They might be used before including patients in studies and for evaluation of patients with severe AP, especially in the ICU.

The Ranson criteria include evaluation of eleven clinical and biochemical parameters on admission and during the initial 48-hour period. Three or more positive signs at admission indicate severe disease [137,138]. The predictive power of Ranson criteria at admission is poor and at 48 hours the sensitivity and specificity reported is approximately 45% and 98% respectively [139,140].

The Acute Physiological and Chronic Health Evaluation II (APAPCHE II) system can be used at any time during the course of disease. It is based on 12 physiologic variables, patient age and chronic health status [141]. In some studies, it is reported to predict severe AP at admission somewhat better than Ranson criteria, with a sensitivity and specificity of around 70% [139,140,142], but it is more often used for evaluation of disease severity and progress in the ICU.

Biochemical markers of severity

The ideal marker for prediction of severity in AP should be a quick, harmless and clinically available blood or urine test, specific for AP. It should be possible to use as a diagnostic tool and have a high sensitivity as well as a high specificity for prediction of severe AP. So far, no marker fulfilling these criteria has been identified.

Pancreatic enzymes are often elevated in AP because they leak into the circulatory system. Most proenzymes as well as amylase and lipase do not discriminate between mild and severe disease [19,39,64]. Levels of serum and urinary trypsinogen 2 are elevated in AP, and to a higher extent in severe disease. The sensitivity and specificity for prediction of severe AP for different cut offs and in different studies ranges from 26 to 90% and from 77 to 96% respectively [40,41] for samples obtained within 12–24 hours from admission to the hospital. Urinary trypsinogen 2 is available as a dip-stick, but it seems to be better for the diagnosis of AP than for predicting severity of disease [143].

Activation peptides such as TAP and especially CAPAP are reported to predict severe disease more accurate. For urinary CA-PAP, a sensitivity of 81–92% and specificity of 83–89% is reported for samples obtained within 48–72 hours from onset of symptoms [19,34]. However, the analytic methods for activation peptides are not available for routine use today. Elevated levels of the complex trypsin- α -1PI discriminates mild from severe AP with a sensitivity of 70–95% and a specificity of 64–72% [40,41], but is not available for clinical use.

Markers of inflammation are not specific for AP, but can be used to discriminate between mild and severe disease. CRP is the most used test in clinical practice today, even though it peaks 48–72 hours after onset of symptom. It shows low predictive value for severe AP the first 48 hours after onset and hence, is not useful as a predictor of severe AP [19,20].

The proinflammatory interleukins IL-1 and TNF- α correlates with severity in some reports, but are difficult to measure because of their short half life in blood and the intermittent release of TNF- α [13,144]. IL-6 has a well documented ability to predict severe disease at an early stage (peak values approximately 24–48 hours from onset of symptoms) with a sensitivity of 89–100% and a specificity of 86–67% [13,81,83,95,145] and is available for clinical use in some centers. IL-8 has shown a lower sensitivity in some studies, but its timecourse and peak parallels IL-6 [13,81,92]. Leukocyte elastase is released by PMN leukocytes early in the course of AP and has been reported to have a sensitivity of 67–85% and a specificity around 62–89% for prediction of severe disease [80,81,144,146]. The anti-inflammatory IL 1-ra is reported to distinguish between mild and severe AP with a sensitivity of 82% and a specificity of 86% for samples obtained within 48 hours from onset of symptoms [92] and the figures for IL-10 reported is similar [81]. Both IL-6 and leukocyte elastase are available as automated assays, even though they are not in routine use in most centers.

Adhesion molecules such as different selectins and the soluble form of ICAM-1 have shown different results in the few studies done and does not seem to be usable as admission markers for severe AP [80,147].

Procalcitonin (PTC) is the precursor of calcitonin. Its site of production and its pathophysiological role is unknown, but it is a rapid general acute-phase reactant not specific for AP. Levels of PTC correlates with severity of AP within 24 hours from admission. A semiquantitative test strip for serum is available and has shown a sensitivity of 71% and a specificity of 84% at admission [139]. Procalcitonin may be useful for prediction of severe AP in the future.

Radiological findings

Contrast enhanced CT is widely used for diagnosing pancreatic injury and evaluating surrounding tissues [148], even though the interobserver variance among different radiologists is reported to be high [149,150]. Extended pancreatic necrosis is detectable on CT, but minor necrotic areas are missed in 50% of cases, and pancreatic necrosis may not develop in the first 48 hours. Moreover, the presence and amount of pancreatic necrosis does not strongly correlate with organ failure [14]. Finding of certain pancreatic abnormalities have been graded by the so called Balthazar score, and patients with a higher score are more likely to develop severe disease even though the highest diagnostic and predictive accuracy is seen after the first week of disease [14,148]. The risk of adverse effects of contrast infusion has been studied with conflicting results. An increase in severity and mortality has been reported after contrast infusion in experimental pancreatitis [13,135].

Aims

- To develop a method for measurement of aCAP in AP.
- To compare markers of protease activation and inflammation as early predictors for severity in AP.
- To study the early time course of markers of pancreatic leakage, protease activation and inflammation in AP, and how their levels differs between mild and severe AP.
- To investigate if aCAP inhibits fibrinolysis

Material, methods and results

Materials and methods, Paper I

The aim of paper I was to develop an assay for measurement of aCAP in AP. An ELISA was established, using two antibodies against pure aCAP. Levels of aCAP in patients with AP and healthy controls were compared.

Purification of aCAP

Pancreatic juice was collected from patients who had their main pancreatic duct drained after major pancreatic surgery [32]. A 20 ml sample of the juice was applied to an affinity chromatography column (2.0 cm x 20 cm) with aprotinin (Bayer Sverige AB, Sweden) coupled to the gel for separation of trypsinogen and trypsin [64].

To identify fractions containing proCAP, trypsin (bovine pancreatic trypsin type 1; Sigma, St.Louis, MO., USA) was added (40 μ l 0.05 mg/ml to a final concentration of

0.01mg/ml) to a 160 μ l sample of respective fraction, before incubation at room temperature for 1 hour for activation. The aCAP activity was tested, using the chromogenic substrate hippuryl-arginine (N-Benzoyl-Gly-Arg, SIGMA chemical company, St.Louis, MO., USA) [151] measuring the cleavage of arginin. The proteins were also visualised by agarose gel electrophoresis at pH 8.6 [152]. Fractions containing proCAP were transferred to a 0.02 M Tris buffer (pH 7.5) using an PD-10 column and then applied to an ion change chromatography column as previously described [32]. For identification of fractions containing proCAP, aCAP activity after activation was tested as above and agarose gel electrophoresis showed a single slightly anionic band [32].

Fractions containing pure proCAP (2 x 0.5 ml) were transferred to a 0.02 M Tris buffer (pH 8.2) using a PD-10 column (Pharmacia, Uppsala, Sweden). For activation, 0.05 mg/ ml trypsin (bovine pancreatic trypsin type 1; Sigma, St.Louis, MO., USA) was added to a final concentration of 0.01 mg/ml and a final volume of 1.26 ml and incubated at room temperature for 1 hour. After activation, 3.5 ml of the sample was applied to an ion change chromatography column (Mono Q, Pharmacia Biotech, Uppsala, Sweden) equilibrated with 0.02 M Tris, pH 8.2 buffer and eluted with a linear gradient of NaCl from 0 to 0.35 M at 1 ml/min. Fractions were analysed for aCAP activity with the chromogenic substrate hippuryl-arginine [151].

Fractions containing aCAP showed a single cationic band on agarose gel electrophoresis (agarose 1% w/vol Sigma, St.Louis, MO.,USA, buffer: 60 mM barbital sodium, 10 mM 5.5-dietylbarbituricacid, 2 mM calciumlactate, pH 8.6, 220V). The molecular mass was determined using sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis with sample and running buffer, reducing agent and standard used according to instructions from the manufacturer (NuPAGE Bis-Tris Gels, 4–12%, NuPAGE MES buff kit, NuPAGE reducing agent, Multi Marle standard, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA.;USA) and found to be around 30–35 kDa. Protein mass was determined by the method of Lowry [153]. Pure aCAP was concentrated by ultrafiltration for 60 minutes (4°C) on a Centricon filter (membrane NMWL 10 000, Amicon Inc, Beverly, MA, USA).

Antibodies

Rabbits were immunized with subcutaneous injections of 0.1 mg aCAP mixed with Freund's complete adjuvant (SIGMA chemical company, St.Louis, MO., USA), repeated every third week with 0.1 mg aCAP mixed with Freund's incomplete adjuvant (SIGMA chemical company, St.Louis, MO., USA). Blood samples were drawn after 9, 11 and 13 weeks, incubated in 4°C overnight and centrifuged (g=1600) for 10 minutes for separation of serum. The antibody titers and specificities were tested by immune electrophoresis using a 1% (w/vol) agarose gel (SIGMA chemical company, St.Louis, MO., USA) and buffer (60 mM barbital sodium, 10 mM 5.5-dietylbarbituricacid, 2 mM calciumlactate, pH 8.6). Pancreatic juice or pure aCAP was applied in wells in the gel and electrophoresis run at 220V. Different antisera were added in the slits between the wells before the gel was incubated in a humid chamber at room temperature over night to allow precipitation of immune complexes. After washing with 0.15 nmol NaCl for 24 hours, the gel was dried at 65°C for 15 minutes. Staining with 0.3% Coommassie (Coomassie brilliant blue R-250, BDH Laboratory, England) diluted in a solution of 5.95 mol/l ethanol and 1.75 mol/l acetic acid was performed before washing in the 5.95mol/l ethanol and 1.75 mol/l acetic acid solutions. Two rabbits developed sufficient titers of immunoreactivity, but a cross reaction with proCAP was seen on the immune electrophoresis.

Immunoglobulin fractions of each antiserum were obtained using a 0.9 x10 cm protein A column (Protein A Sepharose CL-4B, Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Uppsala, Sweden) prepared according to instructions from the provider. A sample of 5 ml antisera and 0.5 ml 1M Tris pH 8 was applied to the column before running with 0.1 M Tris, pH 8 for 2 hours and 0.01 M Tris, pH 8 for 2 hours, both at 20 ml/h. The immunoglobulin was eluted using 0.1 M Glycin, pH 3 (2 ml/fraction) into tubes containing 50μ l 1 M Tris, pH 8. The antibody concentration was measured with spectrophotometry.

ELISA procedures

The antiserum was diluted in buffer (0.015 M Na₂CO₃, 0.035 M NaHCO₃, 0.02% (w/v) azid, pH 9.6) to a concentration of 10 mg/ l and applied (100 μ l/well) to a microtiterplate (Maxi Sorp, Fisher Scientific, Göteborg, Sweden) before incubation overnight at room temperature. After washing with buffer (0.1 M Tris, 0.05 M CaCl₂, pH 7.4) the wells were blocked with 150 μ l of 1% (w/v) bovine serum albumine (BSA, SIGMA chemical company, St.Louis, MO., USA, in buffer 0.1 M Tris, 0.05 M CaCl₂, pH 7.4, 4 hours) and stored at 4°C until use. Each well contained 100 μ l 0.2% (w/v) BSA in buffer (0.1 M Tris, 0.05 M CaCl₃, pH 7.4) during storage.

An amount of 700 μ l of the second antiserum was diluted in 300 μ l 0.1 M NaHCO₃ to a final concentration of 5 mg/ml. The mixture was dialysed (Spectra Por MWC 6–8000, Spectrum Medical Industries. Inc. Houston, TX., USA) at room temperature in 1 l of 1 M NaHCO₃ over night. An amount of 120 μ l biotin (N-Hydroxysuccinimidobiotin, SIGMA chemical company, St.Louis, MO., USA) 1 mg/ml diluted in dimetylsulfoxid (DMSO, SIGMA chemical company, St.Louis, MO., USA) was added and incubated for 4 hours at room temperature before dialysis against 0.01 M phosphate buffered saline (PBS, SIG- MA chemical company, St.Louis, MO., USA, containing 0.01 M Na₂HPO₄, 0.15 M NaCl, 0.1% azid), pH 7.2, at 4°C overnight. The biotinylated antibodies were stored at 4°C and diluted to 1/1000 (in buffer 0.1 M Tris, 0.05 M CaCl,, pH 7.4) before used.

For dilution of standard, samples and avidin conjugate, a buffer 0.2% (w/v) BSA, 0.1 M Tris, 0.05 M CaCl₂, pH 7.4, was used and for washing the same buffer without BSA. Purified aCAP in concentrations from 0.078- $1.25 \text{ nmol/l} (2.5-40 \,\mu\text{g/l})$ was used as standard. A serum pool containing aCAP at a concentration of 0.6 nmol/l was used as a control. The standard was stored at 4°C and controls at -20°C. Coated microtiterplates were washed and 10 μ l of samples (diluted at least 1/5) or standards were applied to the wells before incubation for 2 hours at room temperature. After washing, $100 \,\mu$ l of the second antibody was applied to each well and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature. After further washing, 100 μ l avidin-conjugated alkaline phophatase (Biorad, CA., USA) diluted 1/1000 was applied and incubated for 1.5 hours. Phosphatase substrate (5 mg tablets, SIGMA chemical company, St.Louis, MO., USA) was diluted in 10 ml 1.0 M diethanolamine 1 mM MgCl buffer, pH 9.8, and 100 μ l was applied to each well. Absorbance was measured at 405 nm.

Analysis of proCAP and CAPAP

Immunoreactive (ir) proCAP and CAPAP were analysed using ELISA methods described previously [19].

Gel filtration

Gel filtration was performed on a $0.9 \ge 60$ cm G75 column (Sephadex Superfine G75, Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Uppsala, Sweden) with buffer 0.2% (w/v) BSA, 0.1 M Tris, 0.05 M CaCl₂, pH 7.4 used for elution at a flow rate of 3 ml/h. The application volume was 300

 μ l (serum or dilutions of aCAP or proCAP) and the sample volume was 600 μ l.

Characterization of pure proCAP and aCAP

Pure proCAP (10 μ l, 100 nmol) or pure aCAP (50 μ l, 100 nmol) was mixed with buffer (0.2% (w/v) BSA, 0.1 M Tris, 0.05 M CaCl₂, pH 7.4), to a final volume of 1500 μ l. 300 μ l of respective mixure was subjected to gel filtrations and fractions were then assayed in the aCAP ELISA.

Interactions between aCAP and serum proteins *in vitro*

Pure aCAP (10 μ l, 10 nmol), was mixed with 300 μ l fresh human serum (diluted 1:1 in buffer 0.1 M Tris, 0.05 M CaCl₂, pH 7.4) or with 300 μ l buffer 0.2% (w/v) BSA, 0.1 M Tris, 0.05 M CaCl₂, pH 7.4, and incubated for 24 hours at room temperature. The samples were then subjected to gel filtration as described above, and elution fractions were assayed in the aCAP ELISA for quantification of ir-aCAP.

Patients and blood samples

Blood and urine samples were obtained within 72 hours from onset of symptoms from 25 patients with acute pancreatitis admitted to Malmö University Hospital. Acute pancreatitis was defined as acute abdominal pain and an increase in serum amylase level at least three times the upper reference limit (i.e $3x0.8=2.4 \mu \text{kat/l}$). Severity was classified according to Atlanta classification by reviewing the clinical history of the patients [4]. Maximum CRP levels for the patients were obtained from the review of the clinical history. Blood samples were obtained from 10 healthy volunteers: 5 males and 5 females aged 25 to 54 years. The blood sample was allowed to clot and then centrifuged at $4^{\circ}C$ (g=1600) Protease activation and inflammation in acute pancreatitis



Figure 3. The absorbance of a standard dilution curve of aCAP and proCAP respectively, measured in the aCAP assay showing the cross reaction with proCAP.

within 6 hours. The serum was stored at -20°C. Urine samples were stored at -20°C. The procedure was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of Lund University (LU-47-00). All patient samples were first assayed in three different dilutions (1:25, 1:50 and 1:100) and if necessary in higher or lower concentrations depending on the amount of iraCAP. A dilution of at least 1:5 was used for all samples.

Statistical analysis

Data analysis was performed using Macintosh Stat View software. Fisher's r to z test was used to study correlations.

Results, Paper I

aCAP assay and cross reaction with proCAP

A standard dilution curve for ir-aCAP and the cross reaction with pure proCAP is shown in Figure 3. The sensitivity of the assay is around 0.05-0.1 nmol/l (1-2 μ g/l) and the cross reaction with proCAP is less than 10% compared to ir-aCAP. The inter-assay coefficient

of variation (CV) was 1.7% between 0.078 and 1.25 nmol/l. All samples were diluted and analysed in this interval.

Normal serum

Serum from healthy subjects contained iraCAP in concentrations ranging from 0.17– 0.33 nmol/l (mean 0.24, SD 0.06 nmol/l). Since a dilution of 1:5 is the lowest possible in the ELISA, concentrations are to low to characterize the measured immunoreactivity by dilution curves or to study recovery after gel filtration.

Patient data

Median age of the 25 patients (15 males, 10 females) was 48 years (range 26–92). The probable ethiology was alcohol in 9 patients, gallstone in 8, unknown in 2 and other known causes in 5 cases. There were 20 patients with mild and 5 patients with severe AP according to Atlanta classification. Two patients developed pancreatic necrosis and one underwent surgery. One patient died. The median value for maximum CRP levels of the patients was 182 mg/l (range 12–519).



Figure 4. The distribution of immunoreactivity of pure aCAP (20 nmol) and pure proCAP (20 nmol) respectively after gel filtration, measured in the aCAP elisa.

ir-aCAP in patient serum

Serum samples from patients with AP contained ir-aCAP in concentrations from 0.6 to 158 nmol/l. All samples with values in the lower half of the standard curve had dilution curves parallel to the standard curve. Five samples with high values had dilution curves that to some extent diverged from the slope of the standard curve; this could be overcome by diluting the samples more.

Characterization of pure proCAP and aCAP by gel filtration

The distribution of immunoreactivity in the aCAP assay after gel filtration of pure pro-CAP and pure aCAP is shown in Figure 4. Pure aCAP was eluted in a larger volume due to its smaller molecular size. Serum samples from patients with AP mainly showed two different patterns depending on the amount of aCAP in serum. The patterns from a patient with low and a patient with high serum values are shown in Figure 5. Small amounts of aCAP correspond to a small peak at the molecular size of proCAP. High levels of aCAP showed two peaks, one in the volume expected for proCAP and one in the same volume as aCAP.

Ir-aCAP in relation to s-proCAP, u-CAPAP and maximum CRP levels

For patient samples, the level of ir-aCAP in serum was plotted against the level of ir-pro-CAP in serum and ir-CAPAP in urine of the same patient taken at the same time. The correlation between levels of ir-aCAP and ir-pro-CAP was not statistically significant (r=0.24, p=0.373) but the correlation between levels of ir-aCAP and ir-CAPAP showed a statistically significant correlation (r=0.40, p=0.045). There was no statistically significant correlation between the levels of ir-aCAP and maximum CRP levels (r=0.072, p=0.742).

Recovery of ir-aCAP after gel filtration

The levels of ir-aCAP in 9 serum samples from patients with AP were measured directly in the aCAP assay at a dilution of 1:50 and compared to the amounts of ir-aCAP in the same sample estimated as the area under the true aCAP curve (peak) obtained after gel filtration (AUC). The correlation was statistically significant (r=0.913, p=0.0002), although the levels estimated after gel filtration for all samples were only about 20–25% of the levels measured directly.



Figure 5. Ir-aCAP in fractions after gel filtration of serum from a patient with high (patient 1) respective low (patient 2) levels of ir-aCAP in the aCAP elisa.

Interaction between aCAP and serum proteins

When aCAP was incubated with serum or buffer for 24 hours, no immunoreactivity was unaccounted for measured in the aCAP assay. After gel filtration, all immunoreactivity was eluted corresponding to free aCAP.

Materials and methods, Paper II and Paper III

In paper II, markers of protease activation (aCAP and CAPAP) and of inflammation (MCP-1 and CRP) at admission were evaluated as predictors of severe AP. The aim of paper III was to compare markers of different early pathophysiological events; i.e protease activation (aCAP, CAPAP), pancreatic leakage (proCAP, trypsinogen 2) and inflammation (MCP-1, CRP) over time in patients with mild and severe AP.

Patients

In all, 140 patients (65 men, 75 women), admitted to Malmö University Hospital with 156 events of AP between March 2000 and September 2005 were included in the studies. Patients (18 years and older) with AP and samples obtained within 72 hours from onset of symptoms, were eligible for inclusion. In the analysis, only the first event for each patient was included. Patients who had at least one sample obtained on all of the first three consecutive days from onset of symptoms were eligible for inclusion in the time course analysis in paper III. If a value during these days was missing, the patient was excluded from the time course analysis regarding that specific marker resulting in different number of patients for different markers (n=44-61 except for the amylase analysis where n=27).

Informed written consent was obtained from all patients before entering the study. The studies were approved by the Ethics Committee at Lund University (LU 47-00).

The definition of AP and different ethiologies is described in paper II and III. Of the 140 cases, 16 patients (11 percent) were classified as severe AP according to the Atlanta classification [4].

Samples and assays

Serum and urine samples were collected immediately following a patient's inclusion in the study and on the following three days.

Serum levels of aCAP were determined by the assay described in paper I. Levels of trypsinogen 2 and proCAP in serum and CA-PAP in serum and urine were determined using double-antibody ELISA methods as previously described [19,64]. MCP-1 levels in serum and urine were also analysed with an ELISA method (Quantikine, R&D Systems, Minneapolis, USA.

Analysis of CRP, Hb and pancreatic amylase samples were not part of the original study protocol. These parameters were analysed by the Department of Clinical Chemistry, Malmö University Hospital [154] and results were retrieved from clinical notes.

Statistical methods

SPSS 15.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, USA) was used for all statistical analyses. The Mann-Whitney U test was used to test differences in the biochemical markers between patients with severe and those with mild AP. Differences were considered statistically significant when the *p*-value was less than 0.05. In paper II, receiver operating characteristics (ROC) curves in relation to prediction of developing severe AP were plotted and areas under the curves (AUC) were calculated. Cut-off values for CAPAP, aCAP and MCP-1 were derived from the ROC curves based on optimal sensitivity and specificity, and high positive and low negative likelihood ratios, which were calculated for different cut-off levels. Values above the cut-off were investigated as predictors of developing severe AP using unconditional logistic regression yielding odds ratios (OR) with 95% confidence intervals. All analyses were subsequently adjusted for age, sex, and aetiology. Moreover, all analyses were repeated stratified for aetiology (biliary, alcohol, or other/unknown). High values were combined to create a score from 0 (no high levels) to 3 (high levels for MCP-1, CAPAP, and aCAP) for each subject. Corresponding ORs were calculated as above. In paper III, The Wilcoxon test was used to test differences in concentration of markers for Day 2 versus Day 1 and for Day 3 versus Day 2. Differences in median values between the severe and the mild group for each marker on Days 1 to 3 in patients selected for the time course analysis were compared to corresponding differences in the analysis including all patients.

According to the computerized records at Malmö University Hospital, 793 events of AP were registered in Malmö during the study period. Among these 793 events, 128 of the 140 patients included in the present study were found. All events in other patients (n=665) were compared to included patients in the present study (n=140) with regard to gender distribution and median age.

Results, Paper II and III

Patient characteristics

The median age (58.1 years, range 20 to 96 years), and gender distribution (54% females/ 46% males) for included patients (Table 1), was similar to other patients diagnosed with AP during the study period (median age, 61.2 years; 51% females). Patients with severe AP (n=16, 11%), were older than those with mild disease. Both alcohol and gallstones as the most probable aetiological factor were more common in severe than in mild disease, Table 1. The median time from symptom onset until inclusion in the study was 24 hours for patients with mild as well as with severe AP. The group selected for time course analysis was slightly older compared to all included patients, but the groups were similar regarding gender distribution and aetiology. Patient characteristics are shown in Table 1.

Markers

Differences between mild

and severe cases, Paper II

Levels of CAPAP in serum and urine, aCAP in serum and MCP-1 in serum and urine at admission (4–72 hours from onset of symptoms, median 24 hours), were all significantly Protease activation and inflammation in acute pancreatitis

Factor	All patients			Patients with samples on day 1, 2 and 3			
	Mild AP (<i>n</i> =124)	Severe AP (<i>n</i> =16)	Total (<i>n</i> =140)	Mild AP (<i>n</i> =52)	Severe AP (<i>n</i> =6)	Total (<i>n</i> =58)	
	Number (column percent)*			Number (column percent)*			
Age							
mean (SD)	57.4 (18.2)	63.6 (14.9)	58.1 (17.9)	60.5 (17.0)	72.0 (13.8)	61.7 (17.0)	
Sex							
male	58 (46.8)	7 (43.8)	65 (46.4)	22 (42.0)	2 (33.3)	24 (41.4)	
female	66 (53.2)	9 (56.3)	75 (53.6)	30 (58.0)	4 (66.7)	34 (58.6)	
Aetiology							
biliary	59 (47.6)	7 (43.8)	66 (47.1)	26 (50.0)	4 (66.7)	30 (51.7)	
alcohol	26 (21.0)	5 (31.3)	31 (22.1)	6 (11.5)	2 (33.3)	8 (13.8)	
unknown	32 (25.8)	3 (18.8)	35 (25.0)	17 (32.7)	0 (0.0)	17 (29.3)	
other	7 (5.6)	1 (6.3)	8 (5.7)	3 (5.8)	0 (0.0)	3 (5.2)	
CRP							
mean (SD)	133 (100)	275 (65)	152 (108)	119 (97)	275 (33)	135 (104)	

Table 1. Age, sex and aetiology in patients with mild and severe acute pancreatitis (AP).Among all patients, and among patients with information on day 1, 2, and 3 from onset of symptoms.

* Mean and standard deviations in italics.

Table 2. Median and 2.5 percentile to 97.5 percentile values for the biochemical markers for patients with mild and severe acute pancreatitis.

		Mild		Severe	<i>p</i> -value
s-CAPAP (nmol/l)	0.95	(0.0–27.9)	5.05	(0.6–27.9)	<0.01
u-CAPAP(nmol/l)	2.25	(0.0-375.2)	60.25	(0.0-479.4)	< 0.01
aCAP(nmol/l)	11.35	(0.43–92.3)	20.5	(3.7–81.4)	0,01
s-MCP-1 (µg/l)	222.5	(97.0–1120)	1094	(126–237,000)	< 0.01
u-MCP-1(µg/l)	535	(30.0–9231)	3611	(500-45,600)	< 0.01
CRP max(mg/l)	122	(9.0–379)	266	(180–430)	< 0.01

higher in patients developing severe AP than in patients with mild disease as described in Table 2. Results for maximum CRP values are shown for comparison since this is an analysis often used by clinicians. CRP (information on 137 patients) and haemoglobin count (136 patients) at admission had an area under the ROC curve of 63% and 58% respectively.

The AUC for MCP-1 in serum was larger compared to the other markers in both serum and urine, shown in Figure 6. Sensitivity, spe-



Figure 6. Reciever operating characteristics (ROC) curve of serum (a) and urine (b) markers. Area under the curve (AUC) and *p*-value for the AUC (using AUC=50% as a reference) in brackets.

Protease activation and inflammation in acute pancreatitis

Marker	Cut-off	Sensitivity	Specificity	PLR	NLR
	1	94	50	1.86	0.13
s-CAPAP	2	75	64	2.10	0.39
(nmol/l)	3	56	79	2.66	0.55
	15	63	71	2.15	0.53
u-CAPAP	20	63	75	2.52	0.50
(nmol/l)	25	56	76	2.33	0.58
	10	94	43	1.65	0.15
s-aCAP	15	69	63	1.84	0.50
(nmol/l)	20	50	69	1.62	0.72
	400	88	79	4.14	0.16
s-MCP-1	500	88	85	5.98	0.15
(µg/l)	600	69	89	6.50	0.35
	800	81	65	2.34	0.29
u-MCP-1	1000	75	71	2.58	0.35
$(\mu g/l)$	1200	56	75	2.25	0.58
	150	100	59	2.43	_
s-CRPmax	200	94	73	3.40	0.09
(mg/l)	250	56	85	3.88	0.51

Table 3. Possible cut-off levels with sensitivity, specificity and positive (PLR) and negative (NLR) likelihood ratios. Cut-off levels in this study in squares.

cificity and likelihood ratios were calculated for different cut-off levels, and MCP-1 in serum showed the highest values, described in Table 3. Calculating these estimates separately for younger patients and patients older than 70 years showed similar cut-off levels (results not shown).

MCP-1 in serum at admission showed the highest OR associated with severe AP; adjustment for age and sex did not change these estimates as shown in Table 4. ORs were even higher in cases related to gallstone disease, but the number of patients was small and confidence intervals wide (results not shown). The analysis combining several markers as a score from 0 to 3 did not show any ORs higher than those seen for MCP-1 alone (results not shown).

Differences between mild and severe cases, Paper III

In the first analysis in paper III, markers for all patients where compared between mild and severe AP for day 1, 2 and 3 from onset of symptoms. CAPAP levels were significantly higher in severe AP as compared to the mild group on all days, with the largest differences on Day 2. The concentration of aCAP did not differ significantly between mild and severe cases. Trypsinogen 2 showed significantly higher levels in the severe AP group on all three days, whereas levels of proCAP and amylase did not differ significantly between patients with mild and severe AP. MCP-1 was significantly higher in severe AP during the first three days, whereas CRP showed statistically significant differences between the groups on Day 2 and Day 3.

	Mild AP	Severe AP	OR	OR*	OR**
	п	n			
s-CAPAP					
<2nmol/l	79	4	1.00	1.00	1.00
≥2nmol/l	44	12	5.4 (1.6–17.7)	5.3 (1.6–17.7)	5.5 (1.6–18.4)
u-CAPAP					
<20nmol/l	92	6	1.00	1.00	1.00
≥20nmol/l	32	10	4.8 (1.6–14.2)	5.7 (1.7–18.3)	4.8 (1.5–14.9)
aCAP					
<15nmol/l	77	5	1.00	1.00	1.00
≥15nmol/l	46	11	3.7 (1.2–11.3)	3.8 (1.2–11.9)	3.7 (1.2–11.3)
s-MCP-1					
<500	105	2	1.00	1.00	1.00
≥500	18	14	40.8 (8.5–19.5)	53.0 (9.7–289)	78.6 (9.6–643)
u-MCP-1					
<1000	88	4	1.00	1.00	1.00
≥1000	36	12	7.3 (2.2–24.3)	7.0 (2.1–23.5)	8.1 (2.3–28.3)
CRP max					
<200	90	1	1.00	1.00	1.00
≥200	34	15	39.7 (5.0–312)	41.9 (5.2–337)	41.8 (5.2–335)

Table 4. Risk of severe and mild acute pancreatitis (AP) associated with different biochemical markers. Odds ratios (OR) with 95% confidence intervals in brackets.

OR* adjusted for age and sex OR** adjusted for aetiology

Time course analysis

In the time course analysis levels of markers each of the first three days in the same patients were analysed. Median levels for the markers over time are shown in Figure 7, 8 and 9. Levels of CAPAP in serum were high in severe AP during the first 48 hours, with a significant decline between Day 2 and Day 3, whereas CAPAP levels in urine peaked on the second day. Levels of aCAP were higher in the mild group on Day 2. All markers of leakage (pro-CAP, trypsinogen 2, and amylase) showed the highest values on Day 1, declining over time as seen in Figure 8. MCP-1 serum levels in severe AP were high during the first 48 hours with a significant decline between Day 2 and Day 3, and MCP-1 levels in urine peaked on the first day. CRP values were low on Day 1 but significantly higher on Day 2. The pattern of differences between mild and severe cases on Days 1 to 3 was similar for all markers, except amylase, when patients included in the time course analysis were compared to the whole study population (data not shown).

Materials and methods, Paper IV

In this paper, the capability of aCAP to inhibit fibrinolysis was studied. Two different models for measurement of fibrinolysis was developed and used in the study.





Figure 9. Time course analysis for markers of inflammation; serum-MCP-1 (a), urine MCP-1 (b) and serum CRP (c), median values. Statistically significant differences (p<0.05) between levels on day 2 vs. day 1, and between day 3 vs. day 2, noted as /*/.

aCAP

Purification of aCAP was performed as described for paper I. Purified aCAP was kept frozen (-20°C) and the activity was tested with a chromogenic substrate hippurylarginine (N-Benzoyl-Gly-Arg, SIGMA chemical company, St.Louis, MO., USA) [151] before use. Absence of trypsin was tested with the chromogenic subtrate N α -benzoyl-_{DL}-arginine-p-nitroanilide (BAPNA) hydrochloride (SIGMA chemical company, St.Louis, MO., USA) [155].

Fibrinolysis model: D-dimer measurements

The fibrinolytic activity in human plasma

was studied by measuring levels of D-dimers. First, different dilutions of plasma were tested, and a dilution characterized by increasing fibrinolysis over time (indirectly measured as increasing levels of D-dimers) was chosen. This dilution was then used to compare fibrinolysis in plasma with added aCAP compared to control plasma.

Fresh citrate plasma from a healthy volunteer was centrifuged (g=1600) for 20 minutes at room temperature. Plasma was mixed with 2160 μ l 150 mM NaCl and 1105 μ l control buffer (0.01 M Tris 0.1 M NaCl, pH 8) to a final volume of 4225 μ l and a dilution of 1/4.4. Samples were placed in 15 glass tubes (650 μ l in each) and all but three diluted 1/2 in 150 mM NaCl, yielding plasma dilutions of 1/8.8, 1/17.6, 1/35.2 and 1/70.4. To achieve clot formation, 0.1 ml of human thrombin, 50 NIH units/ml (SIGMA Chemical company St. Louis, MO., USA), diluted in buffer (0.05 M Tris 0.05 M CaCl, 0.02% azid, pH 7.4), was added to each tube before incubation in water at 37°C for 15, 60 or 120 minutes. After centrifugation (g=1200, 7 minutes at room temperature) 400 μ l of the supernatant was mixed with 400 µl of aprotinin (4000KIE/ml in 150mM NaCl, Bayer Sverige AB, Sweden) to inhibit enzymatic activity. The mixture was immediately frozen at -20°C for later analysis of D-dimers using an ELISA assay, Asserachrom D-DI (Triolab, Diagnostica Stago, Sweden), with an inter assay CV of 5.4% (at 150 ng/ml) and 5.6% (at 994 ng/ml).

Fibrinolysis and aCAP: D-dimer measurements

Human fresh citrate plasma was centrifuged (g=1600) for 20 minutes at room temperature. By adding 2160 µl 150 mM NaCl and 1105 µl aCAP (1700 nmol/l) diluted in buffer (0.01 M Tris 0.1 M NaCl, pH 8), or controls of the same buffer, to a final volume of 4225 μ l, a plasma dilution of 1/4.4 was achieved. Samples were diluted 1/2 with 150 mM NaCl, as described above, to a final plasma dilution of 1/35.2. Clot formation was achieved by the addition of 0.1 ml human thrombin 50 NIH units/ml (SIGMA Chemical company St. Louis, MO., USA), diluted in buffer (0.05 M Tris 0.05 M CaCl, 0.02% azid, pH 7.4), before incubation in water at 37°C for 15, 60 or 120 minutes. After centrifugation (g=1200, 7 minutes at room temperature), 400 μ l of supernatant was mixed with the same amount aprotinin solution (4000KIE/ ml in 150 mM NaCl, Bayer Sverige AB, Sweden) and frozen until analysis of the D-dimer concentration as mentioned above.

Agarose fibrinogen gels

For preparation of gel, agarose, sheep fibrinogen, bovine thrombin and human plasmin (SIGMA Chemical company St. Louis, MO., USA) and buffer (0.1 M Tris, 0.05 M CaCl₂, pH 7.4), was used throughout the experiment. Fibrinogen and thrombin were dissolved in water.

Initially, 25 ml 1% (w/vol) agarose gel was heated to 100°C and at 65°C 2 ml 1% (w/ vol) fibrinogen and 250 μ l (25 NIH units) thrombin solution were added. A gel (1mm) was cast between glass plates. After 15 minutes the upper glass plate was removed and ten wells punched in the gel.

Different concentrations of aCAP (i.e. 3280, 1640, 820 and 410 nmol/l), 10 μ l, were applied in two wells each (wells 2–9), and 10 μ l of buffer in two control wells (well 1 and well 10). The gel was incubated in 37°C for 3 hours in a humid chamber. Buffer, 10 μ l, was added to four wells with different concentrations of aCAP (wells 2–5) and to one control well (well 1). To achieve fibrinolysis, plasmin, 250mg/l, 10 μ l, was added to the remaining wells (wells 6–10).

After incubation in a humid chamber (37°C) overnight, the gel was dryed in 65°C for 15 minutes. Staining with 0.3% Coommassie (Coomassie brilliant blue R-250, BDH Laboratory, England) diluted in a solution of 5.95 mol/l ethanol and 1.75 mol/l acetic acid was performed before washing in the 5.95 mol/l ethanol and 1.75 mol/l acetic acid solutions. Fibrinolysis was visualized as the clear diameter around the wells.

Statistical methods

SPSS 15.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, USA) was used for calculation of Spearmans correlation coefficient when concentrations of aCAP and the diameter of the fibrinolytic circle were compared. A *p*-value <0.05 was considered significant.



Figure 10. Levels of D-dimers (after clot induction with thrombin) over time for different dilutions of plasma.



Figure 11. Levels of D-dimers in plasma (after clot induction with thrombin) with aCAP or control buffer added.

Results, Paper IV

Fibrinolysis model: D-dimer measurements

Clot formation was seen visually after incubuation in all dilutions at all timepoints. Ddimer levels increased with time in all dilutions. Levels of D-dimer increased with increasing plasma dilution up to a dilution of 1/35.2 but were somewhat lower for a dilution of 1/70.4 as shown in Figure 10. Since a dilution of 1/35.2 showed the best gradual increase of fibrinolysis over time, this was chosen for further experiment and comparison with aCAP.

Fibrinolysis and aCAP: D-dimer measurements

Levels of D-dimer were lower in all samples containing aCAP as compared to corresponding controls and these differences increased over time, results shown in Figure 11. Protease activation and inflammation in acute pancreatitis



Figure 12. Fibrinogen agarose gel with different amounts of aCAP or control added in the wells. Control buffer is added in wells 1–5 and plasmin is added in wells 6–10. Fibrinolysis is seen as a clear circle in the gel.

Agarose fibrinogen gels

In wells without plasmin (number 1–5), no fibrinolysis could be seen, Figure 12. In the wells with plasmin and control buffer (number 10) a fibrinolytic circle of 10 mm in diameter occurred. The diameter of fibrinolysis was reduced proportionally with increasing concentrations of aCAP (wells number 6-9), Figure 12. The Spearman's correlation coefficient for the relation between concentration of aCAP and the size of the fibrinolytic circle was 1 (p<0.0001).

General discussion

Methodological considerations

The measured levels of enzymes in serum and urine mirrors the pathophysiologic events in patients but must be considered with respect to biological and methodological factors. For measurements of aCAP, cross reactivity with proCAP might affect the results. This problem is decreased by diluting samples and measuring levels on the lower side of the standard curve where the cross reactivity is less pronounced. Used as a semiquantitative assay, as in paper II, this cross reaction is probably of minor importance. In paper III, where levels are followed over time, cross reactivity might affect the lower levels to some extent, but measured levels of ir-aCAP is probably a good assessment of true aCAP levels.

Detection of ir-aCAP in serum could represent the enzyme activity, but the activity might be lost even though the antigen parts are intact. A common form of biological inactivation is the complex binding of an inhibitor to the enzyme. However, no signs of aCAP-inhibitor complexes could be detected in paper I.

The assay for trypsinogen 2 shows some cross reactivity (approximately 10%) with trypsin-2- α -1PI complexes [64], but this may be regarded as acceptable. Since the levels of trypsinogen 2 and formation of trypsin-2- α -1PI complexes increases more compared to trypsinogen 1 and corresponding trypsin-1- α -1PI complexes in AP, and perhaps to a larger extent in severe AP, levels measured in the trypsinogen 2 assay do not only reflect pancreatic leakage, but also other biological events [42,46]. The mechanism behind elevation of trypsinogen 2 in AP and severe AP is not fully understood, but the results with higher levels

in severe compared to mild AP are in accordance with earlier studies [42].

When comparing patients with mild and severe AP, misclassification of patients can give misleading results. The Atlanta classification used in paper II and III can be questioned since it classifies patients with local complications such as pseudocysts, also without organ failure, as severe. This classification is, however, the latest consensus and is useful in comparing different clinical studies. All clinical notes where retrospectively reviewed by two different investigators who agreed on the classification of patients, thus limiting the risk of misclassification.

The results in paper II and III are mainly based on the measured levels of markers. Since the inter-assay CV for the methods used are low, the reproducibility is considered to be high.

For logistical reasons, it was not possible to include all patients with AP meeting the inclusion criteria in the studies described in paper II and III. This could result in a selection bias affecting the results. However, the representativity analysis showed that the group of included patients was similar to all other patients with AP during the same time period in Malmö.

Levels of markers might vary with patient related factors that are potentially associated with the risk of AP or severe AP, e.g age, gender and aetiology. Patients in the severe group were somewhat older compared to the ones in the mild group, but stratification for patients younger and older than 70 years yielded similar results in the ROC analysis. The possible confounders age, sex and aetiology, were adjusted for in the logistic regression analysis and ought not to have affected the results.

The limited number of patients with severe disease implies a low statistical power for subgroup analysis, and the results in these analyses should be considered with caution. In the time course analysis low number of patients with severe AP, especially seen for amylase, indicates a high risk of type II error, i.e the risk of false negative results.

When comparing differences in median values between the mild and severe groups for each marker on Day1 to Day 3 in the time course groups and the whole study population, the patterns regarding significant differences (p<0.05) were similar for all markers except amylase. This indicates that the group used for time course analysis was representative of all patients in the present study.

No power calculation was performed since this was the first explorative study for these variables, and expected levels of differences between patients with mild and severe AP were not known.

Activation of proenzymes in AP

Activation of pancreatic proenzymes is an important event early in the course of AP. Since levels of activation peptides are higher in patients with severe AP it has been suggested that the active enzymes play a part not only in initiation of AP, but also in the development to severe AP [34,39,43]. The suggested pathophysiological effects of activated pancreatic enzymes have been hard to prove. Trypsin is the most investigated enzyme and its proteolytic mechanism could interfere in several biological systems. However, its duration of activity is presumed to be short because it is well regulated by inhibitors, and free trypsin is difficult to measure in plasma and urine [40,64]. Instead, many of the pathophysiological effects seen might come from other cascade systems, activated by trypsin. Since other proenzymes are activated by free trypsin, their activation is an indirect measurement of the initial trypsin activity. The effects of the active enzymes could also be of importance for pathophysiological mechanisms in AP.

Measurement of aCAP

The development of an assay for measurement of aCAP (described in paper I) made it possible to compare levels of pancreatic leakage, enzyme activation and activation peptide for the same enzyme, i.e. carboxypeptidase B and thus compare these pathophysiological events in patients with mild and severe AP (as done in paper III).

Although the aCAP ELISA shows a small crossreaction with proCAP, it can be used as a semiquantitative assay for measurements of aCAP. In patients with AP, levels of ir-aCAP were found to be high. Characterization by gel filtration confirmed most of the immunoreactivity in fractions corresponding to the size of aCAP. Surprisingly, there were no signs of activity for another complex that would suggest the presence of aCAP and a protease inhibitor, neither in samples from patients with AP nor in serum incubated with pure aCAP.

Fibrinolysis, ischemia and aCAP

The exact level of aCAP in pancreatic juice in AP is not known, but it could be roughly estimated to 1000-4000 nmol/l using information from other studies [70,156–159]. Enzymes with the same proteolytic mechanism as aCAP are known to inhibit fibrinolysis in concentrations much lower than this [35]. In paper IV, an inhibitory effect on fibrinolysis by aCAP is shown in two different experimental models. In the first model all plasma components are available and fibrinolysis is measured indirectly by increasing levels of D-dimers. In the second a direct effect on plasmin is shown eliminating possible false results caused by degradation of D-dimers. Formation of microthrombi in pancreas is seen in severe AP. Ischemia and impaired microcirculation is thought to have direct effects on the pancreatic gland by contributing to development of necrosis [29,103,104,113]. A suppression of fibrinolysis might increase the ischemic injury, further aggravating formation of necrosis and thereby the inflammatory reaction. An impaired pancreatic circulation also reduces supply of trypsin inhibitors and antioxidants which may be of importance for local and systemic progression of the disease.

Leakage of pancreatic enzymes

The local inflammatory reaction in the pancreatic gland causes a leakage of pancreatic enzymes and proenzymes into the circulatory system. Turnover for different enzymes in serum varies which may be a result of changes in leakage, production, or increased consumption, or differences in half-life in blood. Whereas leakage of not activated pancreatic enzymes makes them useful for diagnosis of AP, most of them do not correlate to severity of disease. Trypsinogen 2 differs from the other markers by its higher levels in severe disease making studies of its time course of interest [42,46]. The leakage of proCAP was measured in order to compare it with the timecourse of aCAP and CAPAP and thereby study possible differences in patterns of leakage and activation between patients with mild and severe disease.

Inflammatory reactions

The connection between protease activation and inflammatory response in AP is not well understood. In later phases the systemic inflammation in severe AP seems to occur totally independent from the proteolytic activity. Organ failure and mortality is often associated with this generalised inflammatory reaction [14,15]. In the first days of disease there is discrimination between patients keeping the localized inflammation in and around pancreas and patients developing a severe disease.

Many of the inflammatory mediators

measured in AP correlate with disease severity but the complex inflammatory cascade is difficult to overview. The flora of regulatory mediators, feedback systems and parallel signalling ways does not make it easy to understand the pathophysiology and which mediators to modulate to gain amelioration of the disease [24,26,160]. Many studies in experimental AP are delicate to interpret since they are based on a model for mild or severe AP not always similar to the clinical situation. Biological and environmental differences between animals and humans also have to be considered.

Information gained from genetical studies might help understanding which mediators are of importance for human AP and development to severe AP. A genetic polymorphism resulting in increased production of MCP-1 increases the risk of getting severe AP, making it an interesting inflammatory factor [102]. MCP-1 also seems to be induced early in the course of disease, and is supposed to have pathophysiologic effects in early leukocyte recruitment [99,161]. Furthermore it has been shown to have the ability to trigger mast cells to exocytose TNF- α and might thereby generate a quick inflammatory response [162].

Time course analysis

In paper III, levels of MCP-1 increased early, already within 24 hours in patients with severe AP, and they seemed to stay elevated longer compared to markers of protease activation.

Markers of protease activation (aCAP and CAPAP) also increased within the first day in patients with severe AP, but levels of aCAP decreased quickly whereas levels of CAPAP decreased after 48 hours. In the timecourse analysis, aCAP did not show a longer halflife in serum compared to CAPAP, as was suggested because of its larger size and from earlier studies in pig without AP [33]. The elimination of aCAP is not thoroughly studied. It might be affected by other proteolytic

enzymes and, depending on their levels, to a higher extent in severe AP. Proteins with a molecular mass lower than 50 kDa, like proCAP, aCAP and CAPAP are normally eliminated through glomerular filtration and variable tubular degradation, resulting in small amounts of the native substance in the urine [163]. In an earlier study, large amount of CAPAP (10 kDa), but no proCAP (45 kDa) was recovered in urine from patients with AP [32]. In earlier studies in pig without AP aCAP was not excreted in urine [33]. Patients with severe AP might excrete aCAP in urine leading to a faster turnover; in fact, in our preliminary results aCAP was measurable in urine from patients with AP (unpublished results).

Leakage of pancreatic enzymes (proCAP, trypsinogen 2 and amylase) showed initially higher levels, decreasing with time. There were no significant differences between severe and mild disease, except for trypsinogen 2, which is in accordance with earlier studies [19,46,64,164].

The results from the time course analysis could be of importance when designing treatment studies. If inhibition of proteases should be expected to have effect, inhibitors have to be instituted very early, preferably within 24 hours from onset of symptoms. Also moderation of the earlier steps in the inflammatory cascade probably needs to be instituted already within 24–48 hours from onset of symptoms, before it has escalated.

Severity prediction

To do proper clinical treatment studies we need a marker of severity that is useful already within hours after onset of symptoms. The differences in median or mean levels seen between mild and severe patients in a study with pathophysiologic approach does not always discriminate severe from mild patients when a cut off level has to be set.

In paper II prediction of severity of AP on admission was studied. Median time from symptom onset was 24 hours, with a range of 4–72 hours, meaning that the admission sample for a specific patient could have been obtained on the first, second or third day from onset of symptoms.

MCP-1 exhibited to be a good marker of severity and CAPAP and aCAP to be usable markers of severity, even though they did not reach the predicting capacity of MCP-1 in this study. Since time from onset of symptoms at admission ranged from 4–72 hours the differences in levels on day 2–3 (described in paper III) might explain the lower prediction capacity seen for aCAP compared to CAPAP. Variability in time from onset of symptoms until admission might also explain differences in prediction capacity for CAPAP between this and earlier studies.

Since cut off values where set from the ROC curve based on the study material a prospective study with preset cut off values could result in somewhat lower prediction capacities for MCP-1 and aCAP. The cut off for CAPAP (2 nmol/l) in this study was in accordance with suggestions from an earlier study where higher CAPAP levels also showed to be useful in predicting severe AP [19].

Conclusions

- The ELISA for measurement of aCAP is an acceptable method for determinating levels of aCAP and the levels of aCAP are elevated in serum from patients with AP.
- MCP-1 alone at hospital admission could be a good predictor of severe AP. MCP-1 in urine, CAPAP in serum and urine and aCAP may also be useful for prediction of severe AP.
- Markers of protease activation and inflammation are elevated early in severe AP, indicating that these processes are of pathophysiologic importance for development of severe AP within 24 hours from onset of symptoms. Activation of proteases seems to decrease rapidly after 48 hours.
- Fibrinolysis is inhibited by aCAP *in vitro* and may contribute to the development of pancreatic necrosis.

Implications for future studies and treatment of acute pancreatitis

Most clinical trials for pharmacological treatment of severe AP has provided disappointing results [88,165,166]. While enteral nutrition and early ERCP might lead to better outcome for groups of patients with severe AP, no clear effects have been shown for treatment with protease inhibitors, PAF antagonist or antioxidants [88,89,120,125,165-169]. One reason for this might be the timing of treatment, and inclusion of mild cases in previous studies [89,120]. As shown in the present thesis, markers for inflammation and protease activation reach high levels within the first day from onset of symptoms. In most studies, the time between first symptom and institution of treatment are much longer. Earlier institution of pharmacological treatment might give other results in the future. With a reliable early marker for prediction of severity and earlier admission to hospital, patients with potentially severe AP could be included in studies and treated within 24 hours from onset of symptoms, thus being more likely to benefit from a given treatment.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to everyone who has supported me while working on my thesis, and especially to:

Anders Borgström, former professor at the department of Surgery and my principal supervisor for more than seven years, who passed away in October 2007. For supporting my interest in research, letting me keep my enthusiasm and try my ideas with a respectful, gentle guiding through the field of biochemistry, proteases and acute pancreatitis,

Jonas Manjer, former assistant supervisor and present principal supervisor, for giving me excellent discussions, constant support, epidemiological and statistic expert guidance and substantial advice.

Stefan Appelros, assistant supervisor and the one who got me interested in acute pancreatitis. For many interesting discussions, valuable comments, enthusiasm and constant support during this journey.

Professor **Bengt Jeppsson** for support, guidance and valuable comments.

Anne-Marie Rohrstock for your excellent laboratory guidance and work and for archiving all experiment ever done in the lab and furthermore, for being such a nice person.

Cleas Jansen for co-authorship and for sharing interesting results and thoughts.

Jalal Sadic for co-authorship, encouragement and optimism.

Johan Malm for co-authorship, valuable remarks and comments. **Björn Lindkvist**, for practical as well as theoretical advice, support and for sharing your wise ideas concerning protease activation.

The Pancreas 2000 project, for education in pancreatology, leadership and research and especially for involving me in the network of pancreatologists.

My collegues at the department of Surgery for encouragement and support.

The nurses and assistant nurses at the Department of surgery for their helpfulness in collecting the blood and urine samples.

My understanding **friends**, for being there even when I do not have time to see you.

My parents-in-law for help in taking care of our children and home, enabling me to spend more time with my research projects.

My parents for always supporting me, encouraging me and being there whenever I needed you. For taking care of our children with long or short notice.

Jonas, my wonderful husband, "the new and upgraded version". For all love and understanding, for taking care of family and home and also for 24 hours a day technical and computer support whenever I needed it!

Stina and Max, for opening my eyes into other worlds and for enriching my life so much!

Our future baby, for keeping me on track, helping me to remember my deadline and for looking forward to the spring!

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning på svenska

Bakgrund och målsättning

Vid akut bukspottkörtelinflammation insjuknar patienten med plötsligt påkommen buksmärta och ibland illamående och kräkningar. Ungefär 80-90% av dessa patienter har en mild form av sjukdomen och tillfrisknar spontant efter några dagars sjukhusvård, men de resterande utvecklar en svår sjukdom som kan kräva lång tids behandling, ofta på en intensivvårdsenhet. Den svåra formen av akut bukspottkörtelinflammation innebär att komplikationer utvecklats. Dessa kan utgöras av svikt i andra organsystem såsom hjärta, lungor eller njurar eller av att delar av vävnaden i bukspottkörteln dör. Dödligheten för patienter med svår bukspottkörtelinflammation har rapporterats till 17-46%, och av de överlevande får många men i form av bland annat kroniska buksmärtor eller diabetes. Vi vet inte varför sjukdomsförloppet vid akut bukspottkörtelinflammation utvecklas olika för olika patienter. Det finns heller ingen specifik behandling för patienter med svår sjukdom, utan behandlingen går ut på att stödja de funktioner som sviktar, och ibland av borttagande av död, infekterad vävnad.

Bukspottkörteln har två huvudsakliga funktioner. I den inre sekretoriska funktionen ingår till exempel produktion och insöndring av insulin för reglering av blodsockernivåerna. Den yttre sekretoriska funktionen innefattar produktion av matsmältningsprotein (enzym) och utsöndring av dessa till tolvfingertarmen. Eftersom en del av dessa enzym har förmåga att bryta ner andra protein och därmed påverka viktiga biologiska processer, produceras de i en inaktiv form (proenzym) och aktiveras först när de når tolvfingertarmen där de bidrar till att spjälka födan.

De två viktigaste orsakerna till uppkomst av akut bukspottkörtelinflammation är gallstenssjukdom och överkonsumtion av alkohol. Däremot är det oklart på vilket sätt dessa faktorer leder till den cellskada och inflammation som uppstår i bukspottkörteln vid sjukdomen. De matsmältningsenzym som bildas i körteln har sannolikt en stor betydelse eftersom man noterat en för tidig aktivering av proenzym vid bukspottkörtelinflammation. Vid den milda formen av sjukdomen ses ett läckage av framför allt proenzym till blodbanan medan man vid den svårare formen av sjukdomen i högre grad sett tecken till aktivering av dessa enzym. Det mest studerade enzymet, trypsin, tros kunna påverka många olika biologiska system genom att förstöra eller aktivera viktiga reglerande proteiner i de biologiska processerna. Trypsin har också förmågan att aktivera alla andra inaktiva bukspottkörtelenzym vilket sannolikt har betydelse för sjukdomsprocessen vid akut bukspottkörtelinflammation och kanske framför allt för utvecklandet av den svåra formen av sjukdomen. Man vet inte exakt hur aktiva bukspottkörtelenzym påverkar de biologiska systemen i kroppen, men i och runt bukspottkörteln tros de orsaka vävnadsskada som om kroppen bryter ner sig själv inifrån. Vävnadsskadan orsakar lokal inflammation som bidrar till sjukdomen.

Övergången från lokal inflammation i och runt bukspottkörteln till systemisk inflammation som drabbar även kroppens övriga organ har sannolikt stor betydelse för utveckling av den svåra formen av sjukdomen. Flera olika ämnen i denna komplexa process har studerats mycket de senaste åren. Dock är det inte klarlagt vad som styr utvecklandet av svår sjukdom. Sambandet mellan aktivering av bukspottkörtelenzym och inflammation är också oklart. En annan faktor som har betydelse för sjukdomsutvecklingen är blodförsörjningen till och i bukspottkörteln. Nedsatt blodförsörjning kan bidra till den process med vävnadsdöd som ses vid svår inflammation. Ett stort problem i omhändertagande av patienter med akut bukspottkörtelinflammation är att det är svårt att tidigt skilja ut vilka som kommer att utveckla en svår respektive en mild sjukdom. Detta gör det också svårt att undersöka nya behandlingsmetoder för patienter med svår sjukdom. Då sådana behandlingar sannolikt har bäst effekt i ett tidigt skede av sjukdomen är det av största vikt att hitta en markör som tidigt visar patientens risk att utveckla svår inflammation.

Huvudsyftet med denna avhandling var att undersöka enzymaktivering och inflammation i tidiga skeden av akut bukspottkörtelinflammation och att identifiera skillnader mellan svåra och milda former av sjukdomen.

Syften för de olika delarbetena var:

- Att utveckla en metod för bestämning av ett aktivt enzym, aktivt carboxypeptidas B i serum.
- Att undersöka förmågan hos olika markörer representerande enzym aktivering och inflammation att förutspå uppkomst av svår respektive mild bukspottkörtelinflammation.
- Att studera förloppen av sjukdomsprocesserna läckage av inaktiva enzym, aktivering av enzym och inflammation under de första tre dagarna hos patienter med mild respektive svår bukspottkörtelinflammation
- Att undersöka om aktivt carboxypeptidas B hämmar nedbrytning av blodproppar.

Metoder och resultat

Syftet med det första arbetet var att ta fram en metod för bestämning av det aktiva bukspottkörtelenzymet aktivt carboxypeptidas B i serum. För att göra detta renades proteinet fram från bukspott och antikroppar mot detta protein framställdes. Dessa användes för att utveckla en så kallad ELISA metod för analys av aktivt carboxypeptidas B.

Aktivt carboxypeptidas kunde mätas i serum från patienter med akut bukspottkörtelinflammation. Trots undersökning med olika laborativa metoder kunde inte några tecken till hämning av aktivt carboxypeptidas B påvisas.

I delarbete två utvärderades förmågan att förutspå svår akut bukspottkörtelinflammation vid ankomst till sjukhus för markörer för enzym aktivering och inflammation. Både aktivt carboxypeptidas B och den aminosyresekvens som avspjälkas vid aktiveringen (CAPAP), och således representerar samma aktivitet, undersöktes. Dessutom studerades en tidig, (Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein 1, MCP-1) och en något senare (C-reaktivt protein, CRP), markör för inflammation. MCP-1 visade sig i denna studie ha den bästa förmågan att skilja mellan patienter som utvecklade svår respektive mild sjukdom redan vid ankomst till sjukhus. Såväl aktivt carboxypeptidas B som CAPAP visade sig också vara användbara för detta.

I det tredje delarbetet undersöks hur markörer för läckage av inaktiva och aktiva enzym, samt för inflammation, varierar de tre första dygnen på patienter med svår respektive mild bukspottkörtelinflammation. Markörer representerande aktiva enzym och inflammation var högre på patienter med svår jämfört med mild sjukdom. Nivåerna av aktivt carboxypeptidas B, CAPAP och MCP-1 var dessutom höga redan inom 24 timmar från patienternas första symtom vilket indikerar att såväl inflammation som aktivering av bukspottkörtelenzym är tidiga processer vid bukspottkörtelinflammation. Nivåerna för markörer representerande aktiva enzym sjönk snabbt efter 24-48 timmar, men för inflammationsmarkörer kvarstod de förhöjda nivåerna längre.

I det fjärde delarbetet studerades hur aktivt Carboxypeptidas B påverkar nedbrytning av blodproppar. För att kunna göra detta utvecklades två olika metoder som beskrivs i arbetet. Med båda metoderna visades att aktivt carboxypeptidas B hämmar nedbrytningen. Eftersom små blodproppar påvisats i bukspottkörteln vid svår bukspottkörtelinflammation kan denna hämning bidra till att minska blodflödet och därmed öka vävnadsdöden i bukspottkörteln vid detta tillstånd.

Slutsatser

- Aktivt carboxypeptidas B kan mätas i serum från patienter med akut bukspottkörtelinflammation. Inga tecken till hämmare kunde påvisas.
- Höga nivåer av MCP-1 vid ankomst till sjukhus kan förutspå vilka patienter som kommer att utveckla svår respektive mild akut bukspottkörtelinflammation. Aktivt

carboxypeptidas B och CAPAP kan också vara till hjälp för tidig prognostisering av patienter med akut bukspottkörtelinflammation.

- Såväl aktivering av bukspottkörtelenzymer som inflammation är tidiga biologiska processer vid akut bukspottkörtelinflammation. Höga nivåer av markörer som representerar dessa processer kan mätas inom 24 timmar efter symtomdebut hos patienter vid svår akut bukspottkörtelinflammation. Aktivering av bukspottkörtelenzym minskar efter 48 timmar, men inflammationen kvarstår längre hos patienter med svår sjukdom. Läckage av inaktiva bukspottkörtelenzym skiljer sig inte mellan patienter med mild och svår sjukdom.
- Aktivt carboxypeptidas B hämmar nedbrytning av blodproppar vilket kan ha betydelse för blodcirkulation och uppkomst av vävnadsdöd i bukspottkörteln vid svår akut bukspottkörtelinflammation.

References

- 1. Appelros S, Borgstrom A: Incidence, aetiology and mortality rate of acute pancreatitis over 10 years in a defined urban population in Sweden. Br J Surg 1999;86:465–470.
- 2. Gislason H, Horn A, Hoem D, Andren-Sandberg A, Imsland AK, Soreide O, Viste A: Acute pancreatitis in Bergen, Norway. A study on incidence, etiology and severity. Scand J Surg 2004;93:29–33.
- Andersson R, Andersson B, Haraldsen P, Drewsen G, Eckerwall G: Incidence, management and recurrence rate of acute pancreatitis. Scand J Gastroenterol 2004;39:891– 894.
- Bradley EL, 3rd: A clinically based classification system for acute pancreatitis. Summary of the International Symposium on Acute Pancreatitis, Atlanta, Ga, September 11 through 13, 1992. Arch Surg 1993;128:586–590.
- 5. Appelros S, Lindgren S, Borgstrom A: Short and long term outcome of severe acute pancreatitis. Eur J Surg 2001;167:281–286.
- 6. Harrison DA, D'Amico G, Singer M: The Pancreatitis Outcome Prediction (POP) Score: a new prognostic index for patients with severe acute pancreatitis. Crit Care Med 2007;35:1703–1708.
- 7. Corfield AP, Cooper MJ, Williamson RC: Acute pancreatitis: a lethal disease of increasing incidence. Gut 1985;26:724–729.
- Jaakkola M, Nordback I: Pancreatitis in Finland between 1970 and 1989. Gut 1993;34:1255–1260.
- 9. Lindkvist B, Appelros S, Manjer J, Borgstrom A: Trends in incidence of acute pancreatitis in a Swedish population: is there really an increase? Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2004;2:831–837.
- Al-Bahrani AZ, Ammori BJ: Clinical laboratory assessment of acute pancreatitis. Clin Chim Acta 2005;362:26–48.
- Kylanpaa-Back M, Kemppainen E, Puolakkainen P, Hedstrom J, Haapiainen R, Perhoniemi V, Kivilaakso E, Korvuo A, Stenman U: Reliable screening for acute pancreatitis with rapid urine trypsinogen-2 test strip. Br J Surg 2000;87:49–52.

- Muller CA, Appelros S, Uhl W, Buchler MW, Borgstrom A: A study on the activation peptide released from procarboxypeptidase B (CAPAP) and anionic trypsinogen in patients with acute abdominal disorders of non-pancreatic origin. Pancreatology 2003;3:149– 155.
- 13. Papachristou GI, Whitcomb DC: Inflammatory markers of disease severity in acute pancreatitis. Clin Lab Med 2005;25:17–37.
- Beger HG, Rau BM: Severe acute pancreatitis: Clinical course and management. World J Gastroenterol 2007;13:5043–5051.
- 15. Granger J, Remick D: Acute pancreatitis: models, markers, and mediators. Shock 2005;24 Suppl 1:45–51.
- Brivet FG, Emilie D, Galanaud P: Pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines during acute severe pancreatitis: an early and sustained response, although unpredictable of death. Parisian Study Group on Acute Pancreatitis. Crit Care Med 1999;27:749–755.
- 17. Wilson C, Heath DI, Imrie CW: Prediction of outcome in acute pancreatitis: a comparative study of APACHE II, clinical assessment and multiple factor scoring systems. Br J Surg 1990;77:1260–1264.
- Larvin M, McMahon MJ: APACHE-II score for assessment and monitoring of acute pancreatitis. Lancet 1989;2:201–205.
- 19. Muller CA, Appelros S, Uhl W, Buchler MW, Borgstrom A: Serum levels of procarboxypeptidase B and its activation peptide in patients with acute pancreatitis and non-pancreatic diseases. Gut 2002;51:229–235.
- 20. Neoptolemos JP, Kemppainen EA, Mayer JM, Fitzpatrick JM, Raraty MG, Slavin J, Beger HG, Hietaranta AJ, Puolakkainen PA: Early prediction of severity in acute pancreatitis by urinary trypsinogen activation peptide: a multicentre study. Lancet 2000;355:1955– 1960.
- 21. Ohlsson K, Balldin G, Bohe M, Borgstrom A, Genell S, Lasson A: Pancreatic proteases and antiproteases in pancreatic disease; biochemical, pathophysiological and clinical aspects. Int J Pancreatol 1988;3 Suppl 1:S67–78.
- 22. Leach SD, Modlin IM, Scheele GA, Gorelick FS: Intracellular activation of digestive zymogens in rat pancreatic acini. Stimulation

by high doses of cholecystokinin. J Clin Invest 1991;87:362–366.

- 23. Chiari H: Über die Selbstverdaung des menshlichen panckreas. Z Helik 1896;17:69–96.
- 24. Bhatia M: Inflammatory response on the pancreatic acinar cell injury. Scand J Surg 2005; 94:97–102.
- Bhatia M, Brady M, Shokuhi S, Christmas S, Neoptolemos JP, Slavin J: Inflammatory mediators in acute pancreatitis. J Pathol 2000; 190:117–125.
- Bhatia M, Moochhala S: Role of inflammatory mediators in the pathophysiology of acute respiratory distress syndrome. J Pathol 2004;202:145–156.
- 27. Cartmell MT, Kingsnorth AN: Acute pancreatitis. Hosp Med 2000;61:382–385.
- Chen HM, Sunamura M, Shibuya K, Yamauchi JI, Sakai Y, Fukuyama S, Mikami Y, Takeda K, Matsuno S: Early microcirculatory derangement in mild and severe pancreatitis models in mice. Surg Today 2001; 31:634–642.
- 29. Kinnala PJ, Kuttila KT, Gronroos JM, Havia TV, Nevalainen TJ, Niinikoski JH: Pancreatic tissue perfusion in experimental acute pancreatitis. Eur J Surg 2001;167:689–694.
- Redha F, Uhlschmid G, Ammann RW, Freiburghaus AU: Injection of microspheres into pancreatic arteries causes acute hemorrhagic pancreatitis in the rat: a new animal model. Pancreas 1990;5:188–193.
- Spormann H, Sokolowski A, Letko G: Effect of temporary ischemia upon development and histological patterns of acute pancreatitis in the rat. Pathol Res Pract 1989;184: 507–513.
- 32. Appelros S, Thim L, Borgstrom A: Activation peptide of carboxypeptidase B in serum and urine in acute pancreatitis. Gut 1998;42:97–102.
- 33. Appelros S, Borgstrom A: Studies on the turnover of procarboxypeptidase B, its active enzyme and the activation peptide in the pig. Biol Chem 1998;379:893–898.
- 34. Appelros S, Petersson U, Toh S, Johnson C, Borgstrom A: Activation peptide of carboxypeptidase B and anionic trypsinogen as early predictors of the severity of acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 2001;88:216–221.

- 35. Wang W, Boffa MB, Bajzar L, Walker JB, Nesheim ME: A study of the mechanism of inhibition of fibrinolysis by activated thrombinactivable fibrinolysis inhibitor. J Biol Chem 1998;273:27176–27181.
- Lankisch PG, Banks PA: Acute Pancreatitis: Physiology. In: Lankisch PG, Banks PA, editors. Pancreatitis. Berlin: Springer; 1998; 20– 25.
- Longnecker DS: Pathology of pancreatitis. In: Braganza JM, editor. The pathogenesis of pancreatitis, Manchester: Manchester University Press, 1991; 3–19.
- Rinderknecht H: Fatal pancreatitis, a consequence of excessive leukocyte stimulation? Int J Pancreatol 1988;3:105–112.
- 39. Borgstrom A, Appelros S, Muller CA, Uhl W, Buchler MW: Role of activation peptides from pancreatic proenzymes in the diagnosis and prognosis of acute pancreatitis. Surgery 2002;131:125–128.
- 40. Hedstrom J, Kemppainen E, Andersen J, Jokela H, Puolakkainen P, Stenman UH: A comparison of serum trypsinogen-2 and trypsin-2-alpha1-antitrypsin complex with lipase and amylase in the diagnosis and assessment of severity in the early phase of acute pancreatitis. Am J Gastroenterol 2001;96:424–430.
- 41. Hedstrom J, Sainio V, Kemppainen E, Puolakkainen P, Haapiainen R, Kivilaakso E, Schauman KO, Stenman UH: Urine trypsinogen-2 as marker of acute pancreatitis. Clin Chem 1996;42:685–690.
- 42. Kemppainen E, Hietaranta A, Puolakkainen P, Hedstrom J, Haapiainen R, Stenman UH: Time course profile of serum trypsinogen-2 and trypsin-2-alpha1-antitrypsin in patients with acute pancreatitis. Scand J Gastroenterol 2000;35:1216–1220.
- 43. Kylanpaa-Back ML, Kemppainen E, Puolakkainen P: Trypsin-based laboratory methods and carboxypeptidase activation peptide in acute pancreatitis. JOP 2002;3:34– 48.
- 44. Kylanpaa-Back ML, Kemppainen E, Puolakkainen P, Hedstrom J, Haapiainen R, Korvuo A, Stenman UH: Comparison of urine trypsinogen-2 test strip with serum lipase in the diagnosis of acute pancreatitis. Hepatogastroenterology 2002;49:1130–1134.

Protease activation and inflammation in acute pancreatitis

- 45. Lempinen M, Stenman UH, Halttunen J, Puolakkainen P, Haapiainen R, Kemppainen E: Early sequential changes in serum markers of acute pancreatitis induced by endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography. Pancreatology 2005;5:157–164.
- 46. Lempinen M, Stenman UH, Puolakkainen P, Hietaranta A, Haapiainen R, Kemppainen E: Sequential changes in pancreatic markers in acute pancreatitis. Scand J Gastroenterol 2003;38:666–675.
- 47. Steer ML, Meldolesi J, Figarella C: Pancreatitis. The role of lysosomes. Dig Dis Sci 1984;29:934–938.
- 48. Saluja AK, Donovan EA, Yamanaka K, Yamaguchi Y, Hofbauer B, Steer ML: Cerulein-induced in vitro activation of trypsinogen in rat pancreatic acini is mediated by cathepsin B. Gastroenterology 1997;113:304– 310.
- 49. Lerch MM, Gorelick FS: Early trypsinogen activation in acute pancreatitis. Med Clin North Am 2000;84:549–563, viii.
- 50. Hofbauer B, Saluja AK, Lerch MM, Bhagat L, Bhatia M, Lee HS, Frossard JL, Adler G, Steer ML: Intra-acinar cell activation of trypsinogen during caerulein-induced pancreatitis in rats. Am J Physiol 1998;275:G352–362.
- Saluja AK, Bhagat L, Lee HS, Bhatia M, Frossard JL, Steer ML: Secretagogue-induced digestive enzyme activation and cell injury in rat pancreatic acini. Am J Physiol 1999;276: G835–842.
- 52. Grady T, Mah'Moud M, Otani T, Rhee S, Lerch MM, Gorelick FS: Zymogen proteolysis within the pancreatic acinar cell is associated with cellular injury. Am J Physiol 1998; 275:G1010–1017.
- 53. Halangk W, Kruger B, Ruthenburger M, Sturzebecher J, Albrecht E, Lippert H, Lerch MM: Trypsin activity is not involved in premature, intrapancreatic trypsinogen activation. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2002;282:G367–374.
- 54. Halangk W, Lerch MM: Early events in acute pancreatitis. Gastroenterol Clin North Am 2004;33:717–731.
- 55. Hartwig W, Kolvenbach M, Hackert T, Fortunato F, Schneider L, Buchler MW, Werner J: Enterokinase induces severe necrosis and

rapid mortality in cerulein pancreatitis: characterization of a novel noninvasive rat model of necro-hemorrhagic pancreatitis. Surgery 2007;142:327–336.

- 56. Fernandez-del Castillo C, Schmidt J, Warshaw AL, Rattner DW: Interstitial protease activation is the central event in progression to necrotizing pancreatitis. Surgery 1994;116:497–504.
- 57. Hartwig W, Jimenez RE, Werner J, Lewandrowski KB, Warshaw AL, Fernandez-del Castillo C: Interstitial trypsinogen release and its relevance to the transformation of mild into necrotizing pancreatitis in rats. Gastroenterology 1999;117:717–725.
- Lindkvist B, Fajardo I, Pejler G, Borgstrom A: Cathepsin B activates human trypsinogen 1 but not proelastase 2 or procarboxypeptidase B. Pancreatology 2006;6:224–231.
- 59. Szilagyi L, Kenesi E, Katona G, Kaslik G, Juhasz G, Graf L: Comparative in vitro studies on native and recombinant human cationic trypsins. Cathepsin B is a possible pathological activator of trypsinogen in pancreatitis. J Biol Chem 2001;276:24574–24580.
- 60. Ruthenburger M, Mayerle J, Lerch MM: Cell biology of pancreatic proteases. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 2006;35:313–331, ix.
- 61. Kukor Z, Toth M, Pal G, Sahin-Toth M: Human cationic trypsinogen. Arg(117) is the reactive site of an inhibitory surface loop that controls spontaneous zymogen activation. J Biol Chem 2002;277:6111–6117.
- 62. Rinderknecht H: Pancreatic secretory enzymes. In: Liang V, Di Magno E, Gardner J,. Lebenthal E, Reber H, Scheele G, editors. The Pancreas biology, pathobiology, and disease, ed 2, New York, Raven Press, 1993; 221– 229.
- 63. Rinderknecht H: Pancreatic secretory enzymes; Trypsin inhibitors. In: Liang V, Di Magno E, Gardner J,. Lebenthal E, Reber H, Scheele G, editors. The Pancreas biology, pathobiology, and disease, ed 2, New York, Raven Press, 1993; 236–240.
- 64. Kimland M, Russick C, Marks WH, Borgstrom A: Immunoreactive anionic and cationic trypsin in human serum. Clin Chim Acta 1989;184:31–46.

- 65. Itkonen O, Koivunen E, Hurme M, Alfthan H, Schroder T, Stenman UH: Time-resolved immunofluorometric assays for trypsinogen-1 and 2 in serum reveal preferential elevation of trypsinogen-2 in pancreatitis. J Lab Clin Med 1990;115:712–718.
- 66. Petersson U, Appelros S, Borgstrom A: Different patterns in immunoreactive anionic and cationic trypsinogen in urine and serum in human acute pancreatitis. Int J Pancreatol 1999;25:165–170.
- 67. Gorry MC, Gabbaizedeh D, Furey W, Gates LK, Jr., Preston RA, Aston CE, Zhang Y, Ulrich C, Ehrlich GD, Whitcomb DC: Mutations in the cationic trypsinogen gene are associated with recurrent acute and chronic pancreatitis. Gastroenterology 1997;113:1063– 1068.
- 68. Whitcomb DC: Hereditary pancreatitis: new insights into acute and chronic pancreatitis. Gut 1999;45:317–322.
- 69. Whitcomb DC: Genes means pancreatitis. Gut 1999;44:150–151.
- Geokas MC, Largman C, Brodrick JW, Raeburn S, Rinderknecht H: Human pancreatic carboxypeptidase B. I. Isolation, purification, and characterization of fraction II. Biochim Biophys Acta 1975;391:396–402.
- McDonald JK, Barrett, A.J: Mammalian Proteases: Tissue Carboxypeptidase B. In Mc-Donald JK, Barrett, A.J, editors. Mammalian Proteases. London: Academic Press; 1986; 176–185.
- 72. Pezzilli R, Morselli-Labate AM, Barbieri AR, Plate L: Clinical usefulness of the serum carboxypeptidase B activation peptide in acute pancreatitis. JOP 2000;1:58–68.
- Junqueira LC, Carneiro, J, Kelley, R.O.: Basic Histology: Blood cells. In Junqueira LC, Carneiro, J, Kelley, R.O, editors. Basic Histology, ed 6. Connecticut: Appleton and Lange; 1989; 119–120, 233–236.
- 74. Muller WA, Randolph GJ: Migration of leukocytes across endothelium and beyond: molecules involved in the transmigration and fate of monocytes. J Leukoc Biol 1999;66:698– 704.
- 75. Springer TA: Traffic signals for lymphocyte recirculation and leukocyte emigration: the multistep paradigm. Cell 1994;76:301–314.

- 76. Norman J: The role of cytokines in the pathogenesis of acute pancreatitis. Am J Surg 1998;175:76–83.
- 77. Makhija R, Kingsnorth AN: Cytokine storm in acute pancreatitis. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg 2002;9:401–410.
- 78. Rinderknecht H, Adham NF, Renner IG, Carmack C: A possible zymogen self-destruct mechanism preventing pancreatic autodigestion. Int J Pancreatol 1988;3:33–44.
- 79. Banks RE, Evans SW, Alexander D, McMahon MJ, Whicher JT: Is fatal pancreatitis a consequence of excessive leukocyte stimulation? The role of tumor necrosis factor alpha. Cytokine 1991;3:12–16.
- Werner J, Hartwig W, Uhl W, Muller C, Buchler MW: Useful markers for predicting severity and monitoring progression of acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2003;3:115– 127.
- Berney T, Gasche Y, Robert J, Jenny A, Mensi N, Grau G, Vermeulen B, Morel P: Serum profiles of interleukin-6, interleukin-8, and interleukin-10 in patients with severe and mild acute pancreatitis. Pancreas 1999; 18:371–377.
- 82. Uhl W, Buchler M, Malfertheiner P, Martini M, Beger HG: PMN-elastase in comparison with CRP, antiproteases, and LDH as indicators of necrosis in human acute pancreatitis. Pancreas 1991;6:253–259.
- 83. Ikei S, Ogawa M, Yamaguchi Y: Blood concentrations of polymorphonuclear leucocyte elastase and interleukin-6 are indicators for the occurrence of multiple organ failures at the early stage of acute pancreatitis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1998;13:1274–1283.
- Hordijk PL: Endothelial signalling events during leukocyte transmigration. Febs J 2006;273:4408–4415.
- 85. Kakafika A, Papadopoulos V, Mimidis K, Mikhailidis DP: Coagulation, platelets, and acute pancreatitis. Pancreas 2007;34:15– 20.
- Kingsnorth AN, Galloway SW, Formela LJ: Randomized, double-blind phase II trial of Lexipafant, a platelet-activating factor antagonist, in human acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 1995;82:1414–1420.
- 87. McKay CJ, Curran F, Sharples C, Baxter

Protease activation and inflammation in acute pancreatitis

JN, Imrie CW: Prospective placebo-controlled randomized trial of lexipafant in predicted severe acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 1997;84:1239–1243.

- 88. Johnson CD, Kingsnorth AN, Imrie CW, Mc-Mahon MJ, Neoptolemos JP, McKay C, Toh SK, Skaife P, Leeder PC, Wilson P, Larvin M, Curtis LD: Double blind, randomised, placebo controlled study of a platelet activating factor antagonist, lexipafant, in the treatment and prevention of organ failure in predicted severe acute pancreatitis. Gut 2001;48:62–69.
- Abu-Zidan FM, Windsor JA: Lexipafant and acute pancreatitis: a critical appraisal of the clinical trials. Eur J Surg 2002;168:215– 219.
- 90. Demols A, Le Moine O, Desalle F, Quertinmont E, Van Laethem JL, Deviere J: CD4(+)T cells play an important role in acute experimental pancreatitis in mice. Gastroenterology 2000;118:582–590.
- de Beaux AC, Goldie AS, Ross JA, Carter DC, Fearon KC: Serum concentrations of inflammatory mediators related to organ failure in patients with acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 1996;83:349–353.
- 92. Mayer J, Rau B, Gansauge F, Beger HG: Inflammatory mediators in human acute pancreatitis: clinical and pathophysiological implications. Gut 2000;47:546–552.
- 93. Weiss FU, Simon P, Mayerle J, Kraft M, Lerch MM: Germline mutations and gene polymorphism associated with human pancreatitis. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 2006;35:289–302, viii–ix.
- 94. Messmann H, Vogt W, Holstege A, Lock G, Heinisch A, von Furstenberg A, Leser HG, Zirngibl H, Scholmerich J: Post-ERP pancreatitis as a model for cytokine induced acute phase response in acute pancreatitis. Gut 1997;40:80–85.
- Chen CC, Wang SS, Lu RH, Chang FY, Lee SD: Serum interleukin 10 and interleukin 11 in patients with acute pancreatitis. Gut 1999;45:895–899.
- 96. Norman JG, Franz MG, Fink GS, Messina J, Fabri PJ, Gower WR, Carey LC: Decreased mortality of severe acute pancreatitis after proximal cytokine blockade. Ann Surg 1995;221:625–631.

- 97. Baggiolini M: Chemokines in pathology and medicine. J Intern Med 2001;250:91– 104.
- 98. Hofner P, Balog A, Gyulai Z, Farkas G, Rakonczay Z, Takacs T, Mandi Y: Polymorphism in the IL-8 gene, but not in the TLR4 gene, increases the severity of acute pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2006;6:542–548.
- 99. Bhatia M, Brady M, Kang YK, Costello E, Newton DJ, Christmas SE, Neoptolemos JP, Slavin J: MCP-1 but not CINC synthesis is increased in rat pancreatic acini in response to cerulein hyperstimulation. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2002;282:G77–85.
- 100. Bhatia M, Ramnath RD, Chevali L, Guglielmotti A: Treatment with bindarit, a blocker of MCP-1 synthesis, protects mice against acute pancreatitis. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2005;288: G1259–1265.
- 101. Rau B, Baumgart K, Kruger CM, Schilling M, Beger HG: CC-chemokine activation in acute pancreatitis: enhanced release of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in patients with local and systemic complications. Intensive Care Med 2003;29:622–629.
- 102. Papachristou GI, Sass DA, Avula H, Lamb J, Lokshin A, Barmada MM, Slivka A, Whitcomb DC: Is the monocyte chemotactic protein-1 -2518 G allele a risk factor for severe acute pancreatitis? Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2005;3:475–481.
- 103. Zhou ZG, Chen YD, Sun W, Chen Z: Pancreatic microcirculatory impairment in experimental acute pancreatitis in rats. World J Gastroenterol 2002;8:933–936.
- 104. Sunamura M, Yamauchi J, Shibuya K, Chen HM, Ding L, Takeda K, Kobari M, Matsuno S: Pancreatic microcirculation in acute pancreatitis. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg 1998;5:62–68.
- 105. Warshaw AL, O'Hara PJ: Susceptibility of the pancreas to ischemic injury in shock. Ann Surg 1978;188:197–201.
- 106. Broe PJ, Zuidema GD, Cameron JL: The role of ischemia in acute pancreatitis: studies with an isolated perfused canine pancreas. Surgery 1982;91:377–382.
- 107. Bassi D, Kollias N, Fernandez-del Castillo C, Foitzik T, Warshaw AL, Rattner DW:

Impairment of pancreatic microcirculation correlates with the severity of acute experimental pancreatitis. J Am Coll Surg 1994;179:257–263.

- 108. Cuthbertson CM, Christophi C: Disturbances of the microcirculation in acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 2006;93:518–530.
- Anderson MC: Venous stasis in the transition of edematous pancreatitis to necrosis. Jama 1963;183:534–537.
- Aho HJ, Nevalainen TJ, Havia VT, Heinonen RJ, Aho AJ: Human acute pancreatitis: a light and electron microscopic study. Acta Pathol Microbiol Immunol Scand [A] 1982;90:367–373.
- 111. Ottesen LH, Bladbjerg EM, Osman M, Lausten SB, Jacobsen NO, Gram J, Jensen SL: Protein C activation during the initial phase of experimental acute pancreatitis in the rabbit. Dig Surg 1999;16:486–495.
- 112. Ranson JH, Lackner H, Berman IR, Schinella R: The relationship of coagulation factors to clinical complications of acute pancreatitis. Surgery 1977;81:502–511.
- 113. Plusczyk T, Witzel B, Menger MD, Schilling M: ETA and ETB receptor function in pancreatitis-associated microcirculatory failure, inflammation, and parenchymal injury. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2003;285:G145–153.
- 114. Kusterer K, Poschmann T, Friedemann A, Enghofer M, Zendler S, Usadel KH: Arterial constriction, ischemia-reperfusion, and leukocyte adherence in acute pancreatitis. Am J Physiol 1993;265:G165–171.
- 115. Rao SS, Watt IA, Donaldson LA, Crocket A, Joffe SN: A serial histologic study of the development and progression of acute pancreatitis in the rat. Am J Pathol 1981;103:39– 46.
- 116. Brackett KA, Crocket A, Joffe SN: Ultrastructure of early development of acute pancreatitis in the rat. Dig Dis Sci 1983;28:74–84.
- 117. Pitkaranta P, Kivisaari L, Nordling S, Nuutinen P, Schroder T: Vascular changes of pancreatic ducts and vessels in acute necrotizing, and in chronic pancreatitis in humans. Int J Pancreatol 1991;8:13–22.
- 118. Dabrowski A, Konturek SJ, Konturek PC,

Gabryelewicz A: Role of reactive oxygen species in the pathogenesis of cerulein-induced acute pancreatitis. In: Büchler MV, Uhl W, Friess H, Malfartheimer P, editors. Acute Pancreatitis Novel Concepts in Biology and Therapy. Berlin: Blackwell Wissenschafts-Verlag GmbH; 1999; 77–88.

- Sanfrey H: Oxygen free radicals in experimental pancreatitis. In: Braganza JM, editor. The pathogenesis of pancreatitis, Manchester: Manchester University Press, 1991; 53–65.
- 120. Johnson CD: Antioxidants in acute pancreatitis. Gut 2007;56:1344-1345.
- 121. Sajewicz W, Milnerowicz S, Nabzdyk S: Blood plasma antioxidant defense in patients with pancreatitis. Pancreas 2006;32:139– 144.
- 122. Reinheckel T, Prause J, Nedelev B, Augustin W, Schulz HU, Lippert H, Halangk W: Oxidative stress affects pancreatic proteins during the early pathogenesis of rat caerulein pancreatitis. Digestion 1999;60:56– 62.
- 123. Gupta R, Patel K, Calder PC, Yaqoob P, Primrose JN, Johnson CD: A randomised clinical trial to assess the effect of total enteral and total parenteral nutritional support on metabolic, inflammatory and oxidative markers in patients with predicted severe acute pancreatitis (APACHE II > or =6). Pancreatology 2003;3:406–413.
- 124. Dziurkowska-Marek A, Marek TA, Nowak A, Kacperek-Hartleb T, Sierka E, Nowakowska-Dulawa E: The dynamics of the oxidant-antioxidant balance in the early phase of human acute biliary pancreatitis. Pancreatology 2004;4:215–222.
- 125. Siriwardena AK, Mason JM, Balachandra S, Bagul A, Galloway S, Formela L, Hardman JG, Jamdar S: Randomised, double blind, placebo controlled trial of intravenous antioxidant (n-acetylcysteine, selenium, vitamin C) therapy in severe acute pancreatitis. Gut 2007;56:1439–1444.
- 126. Nesheim M: Fibrinolysis and the plasma carboxypeptidase. Curr Opin Hematol 1998;5:309–313.
- 127. Nesheim M: Thrombin and fibrinolysis. Chest 2003;124:33S–39S.

Protease activation and inflammation in acute pancreatitis

- 128. Rijken DC, Sakharov DV: Basic principles in thrombolysis: regulatory role of plasminogen. Thromb Res 2001;103 Suppl 1: S41-49.
- 129. Mosnier LO, Bouma BN: Regulation of fibrinolysis by thrombin activatable fibrinolysis inhibitor, an unstable carboxypeptidase B that unites the pathways of coagulation and fibrinolysis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2006;26:2445–2453.
- 130. Mosnier LO, von dem Borne PA, Meijers JC, Bouma BN: Plasma TAFI levels influence the clot lysis time in healthy individuals in the presence of an intact intrinsic pathway of coagulation. Thromb Haemost 1998;80:829–835.
- 131. Lasson A, Ohlsson K: Disseminated intravascular coagulation and antiprotease activity in acute human pancreatitis. Scand J Gastroenterol Suppl 1986;126:35–39.
- 132. Lasson A, Ohlsson K: Consumptive coagulopathy, fibrinolysis and protease-antiprotease interactions during acute human pancreatitis. Thromb Res 1986;41:167–183.
- 133. Salomone T, Tosi P, Palareti G, Tomassetti P, Migliori M, Guariento A, Saieva C, Raiti C, Romboli M, Gullo L: Coagulative disorders in human acute pancreatitis: role for the D-dimer. Pancreas 2003;26:111–116.
- 134. Radenkovic D BD, Ivancevic N, Jeremic V, Djukic V, Stefanovic B. : Role of d-dimer in prediction of organ failure in acute pancreatitis. Pancreas 2007;35:423–424 (abstract).
- 135. Foitzik T: What factors trigger pancreatic necrosis: contrast medium, endothelin? In: Büchler MV, Uhl W, Friess H, Malfartheimer P, editors. Acute Pancreatitis Novel Concepts in Biology and Therapy. Berlin: Blackwell Wissenschafts-Verlag GmbH; 1999; 101–108.
- 136. Criddle DN, Gerasimenko JV, Baumgartner HK, Jaffar M, Voronina S, Sutton R, Petersen OH, Gerasimenko OV: Calcium signalling and pancreatic cell death: apoptosis or necrosis? Cell Death Differ 2007;14:1285–1294.
- 137. Ranson JH, Rifkind KM, Roses DF, Fink SD, Eng K, Spencer FC: Prognostic signs and the role of operative management in

acute pancreatitis. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1974;139:69–81.

- 138. Ranson JH, Rifkind KM, Roses DF, Fink SD, Eng K, Localio SA: Objective early identification of severe acute pancreatitis. Am J Gastroenterol 1974;61:443–451.
- 139. Kylanpaa-Back ML, Takala A, Kemppainen E, Puolakkainen P, Haapiainen R, Repo H: Procalcitonin strip test in the early detection of severe acute pancreatitis. Br J Surg 2001;88:222–227.
- 140. Taylor SL, Morgan DL, Denson KD, Lane MM, Pennington LR: A comparison of the Ranson, Glasgow, and APACHE II scoring systems to a multiple organ system score in predicting patient outcome in pancreatitis. Am J Surg 2005;189:219–222.
- 141. Teres D, Lemeshow S: The APACHE III prognostic system. Chest 1992;102:1919–1920.
- 142. Chen CC, Wang SS, Lee FY, Chang FY, Lee SD: Proinflammatory cytokines in early assessment of the prognosis of acute pancreatitis. Am J Gastroenterol 1999;94:213–218.
- 143. Lempinen M, Kylanpaa-Back ML, Stenman UH, Puolakkainen P, Haapiainen R, Finne P, Korvuo A, Kemppainen E: Predicting the severity of acute pancreatitis by rapid measurement of trypsinogen-2 in urine. Clin Chem 2001;47:2103–2107.
- 144. Rau B, Schilling MK, Beger HG: Laboratory markers of severe acute pancreatitis. Dig Dis 2004;22:247–257.
- 145. Sathyanarayan G, Garg PK, Prasad H, Tandon RK: Elevated level of interleukin-6 predicts organ failure and severe disease in patients with acute pancreatitis. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2007;22:550–554.
- 146. Papachristou GI, Whitcomb DC: Predictors of severity and necrosis in acute pancreatitis. Gastroenterol Clin North Am 2004;33:871–890.
- 147. Kylanpaa-Back ML, Takala A, Kemppainen EA, Puolakkainen PA, Leppaniemi AK, Karonen SL, Orpana A, Haapiainen RK, Repo H: Procalcitonin, soluble interleukin-2 receptor, and soluble E-selectin in predicting the severity of acute pancreatitis. Crit Care Med 2001;29:63–69.

- 148. Balthazar EJ: Acute pancreatitis: assessment of severity with clinical and CT evaluation. Radiology 2002;223:603–613.
- 149. Bradley EL, 3rd: Confusion in the imaging ranks: time for a change? Pancreas 2006;33:321–322.
- 150. Besselink MG, van Santvoort HC, Bollen TL, van Leeuwen MS, Lameris JS, van der Jagt EJ, Strijk SP, Buskens E, Freeny PC, Gooszen HG: Describing computed tomography findings in acute necrotizing pancreatitis with the Atlanta classification: an interobserver agreement study. Pancreas 2006;33:331–335.
- 151. Folk JE, Piez KA, Carroll WR, Gladner JA: Carboxy-peptidase B. 4. Purification and characterization of the porcine enzyme. J Biol Chem 1960;235:2272–2277.
- 152. Johansson BG: Agarose gel electrophoresis. Scand J Clin Lab Invest Suppl 1972;124:7– 19.
- 153. Lowry OH, Rosebrough NJ, Farr AL, Randall RJ: Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. J Biol Chem 1951;193:265– 275.
- 154. Department of Clinical Chemistry MUH: www.labmedicin.org/KlinKem/klinkem. asp. In, 2007.
- 155. Erlanger BF, Kokowsky N, Cohen W: The preparation and properties of two new chromogenic substrates of trypsin. Arch Biochem Biophys 1961;95:271–278.
- 156. Berk JE: Bockus Gastroenterology. ed Fourth, W. B. Saunders Company, PA., USA, 1985.
- 157. Delk AS, Durie PR, Fletcher TS, Largman C: Radioimmunoassay of active pancreatic enzymes in sera from patients with acute pancreatitis. I. Active carboxypeptidase B. Clin Chem 1985;31:1294–1300.
- 158. Fernstad R, Kylander C, Tsai L, Tyden G, Pousette A: Isoforms of procarboxypeptidase B, (pancreas-specific protein, PASP) in human serum, pancreatic tissue and juice. Scand J Clin Lab Invest Suppl 1993;213:9–17.
- 159. Piront JL, Dandrifosse G, Van den Herrewegen C, Focant B, Schurgers P: Detailed analysis of human pancreatic secretions collected by retrograde catheterization. Parallel or non-parallel excretion of digestive en-

zymes? Arch Int Physiol Biochim Biophys 1992;100:213–221.

- 160. Bhatia M, Neoptolemos JP, Slavin J: Inflammatory mediators as therapeutic targets in acute pancreatitis. Curr Opin Investig Drugs 2001;2:496–501.
- 161. Brady M, Bhatia M, Christmas S, Boyd MT, Neoptolemos JP, Slavin J: Expression of the chemokines MCP-1/JE and cytokine-induced neutrophil chemoattractant in early acute pancreatitis. Pancreas 2002;25:260– 269.
- 162. Wan MX, Wang Y, Liu Q, Schramm R, Thorlacius H: CC chemokines induce P-selectin-dependent neutrophil rolling and recruitment in vivo: intermediary role of mast cells. Br J Pharmacol 2003;138:698–706.
- 163. Waldmann TA, Strober W, Mogielnicki RP: The renal handling of low molecular weight proteins. II. Disorders of serum protein catabolism in patients with tubular proteinuria, the nephrotic syndrome, or uremia. J Clin Invest 1972;51:2162–2174.
- 164. Borgstrom A, Andren-Sandberg A: Elevated serum levels of immunoreactive anionic trypsin (but not cationic trypsin) signals pancreatic disease. Int J Pancreatol 1995;18:221–225.
- 165. Seta T, Noguchi Y, Shimada T, Shikata S, Fukui T: Treatment of acute pancreatitis with protease inhibitors: a meta-analysis. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2004;16: 1287–1293.
- 166. Heinrich S, Schafer M, Rousson V, Clavien PA: Evidence-based treatment of acute pancreatitis: a look at established paradigms. Ann Surg 2006;243:154–168.
- 167. Besselink MG, van Minnen LP, van Erpecum KJ, Bosscha K, Gooszen HG: Beneficial effects of ERCP and papillotomy in predicted severe biliary pancreatitis. Hepatogastroenterology 2005;52:37–39.
- Mayerle J, Hlouschek V, Lerch MM: Current management of acute pancreatitis. Nat Clin Pract Gastroenterol Hepatol 2005;2:473–483.
- 169. Canlas KR, Branch MS: Role of endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography in acute pancreatitis. World J Gastroenterol 2007;13:6314–6320.